
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Finance and Audit 
Committee

Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held Virtually on Tuesday, 13 October 2020 at 7.30 pm when the 
business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how Members 
can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting. (Pages 3 - 12)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public. 

5. Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 
2019/20 

(Pages 13 - 30)

6. Audit & Counter Fraud Update - 1 April to 31 August 2020 (Pages 31 - 58)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


7. General Fund Budget Monitoring Report – Quarter One 2020/21 (Pages 59 - 82)

8. Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report – Quarter One 
2020/21 

(Pages 83 - 
100)

9. Redmond Review Update (Pages 101 - 
106)

10.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

11.Exclusion of the public 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B 
Items likely to be considered in Private

None.

Members

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair)
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Nirmal Khabra
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Finance & Audit Committee
 

Tuesday, 21 July 2020                                            7:30pm 

Present: 

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair) 
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)  

Cllrs: Derek Ashenden 
Ejaz Aslam 
Dakota Dibben 
Nirmal Khabra 
Emma Morley 
Elizabeth Mulheran 
Tony Rice 

Sarah Parfitt Director (Corporate Services)
James Larkin 
Andrew Barnett 
Donna Riley   

Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services 
Principal Accountant (General Fund) 
Deputy Principal Accountant  

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

55. Apologies for absence 

No apologies of absence were received. 

56. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting. 

The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday, 10 March 2020 were signed by the Chair.

57. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Gow and Cllr Rice declared an Other Significant Interest as appointed Directors of 
Rosherville Limited, the Council’s Local Authority Trading Company. 

58. General Fund Provisional Outturn Report 

The Committee was presented with the 2019/20 provisional General Fund Outturn Report, 
including movements in the General Fund working balances and earmarked reserves and 
the 2019/20 provisional General Fund Capital Outturn. 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) advised that the report was labelled as provisional 
as it was still subject to the external audit process and the receipt of the final audit opinion 
which will come to the Finance & Audit Committee in due course. 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) directed Members to page 14 of the report which 
held an Executive Summary of the information in the report pertaining to the:  

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Finance and Audit Committee 21.07.2020

2

 General Fund – Revenue 
 General Fund – Capital 

Members were updated on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, or Financial 
Statements. 

The Chair thanked the Principal Accountant (General Fund) for the detailed run through of 
the report and opened up the report to Members questions. 

Cllr Ejaz Aslam requested that it be noted that the Conservatives had full confidence in the 
Finance Team and were proud to work with them to monitor Gravesham Council’s finances. 

Following questions for clarification, the Principal Accountant (General Fund) elaborated 
further on several variances within the report:  

 Covid19 Impact – additional bad debt provision: £377k adverse variance and 
Increased Sundry Debt bed debt provision £60k adverse variance – It was identified 
that more current debts which generally did not attract a bad debt provision would be 
at greater-risk of non-payment than was usually the case. Officers have undertaken 
various aged debt analysis modelling, and thus in the interests of budgetary 
prudence and in recognising these unique circumstances, a further bad debt 
provision of £377k was set aside. However it is just a provision at 31 March 2020; 
when the Council gets to year end 2020-21 the provision will be reviewed and if the 
sum was too cautious then it will be released back into the General Fund. The aim of 
the bad debt provision was to be realistic about certain debts which may not get paid 
due to the extenuating  circumstances stemming from COVID-19 

 Bank Charges: £37k adverse variance – The Council has been looking at different 
electronic methods of payment that are convenient for the customer and more 
efficient for money handling. An increased volume of electronic payments has been 
seen resulting in additional charges. New rates were negotiated with Worldpay but 
the contract negotiations were delayed and didn’t come into effect until 
February/March which affected the variance. 

 St Georges’ Shopping Centre: £526k favourable variance – this position has 
been generated from rental income from the centre, included a rent guarantee sum 
from Reef and investment income generated from the initial investment balance 
received. 

 Other Net Variances: £49k adverse variance – Significant variances of over £10k 
are reported for each area and highlighted within the report under a favourable or 
adverse variance. Other variances under £10k are reported as a net position in the 
report under ‘other net variances’. It should be noted that the £49K adverse variance 
under this heading is not considered significant when compared to the total net £4.9 
million budget for Corporate Services 

 Town Centre Improvement Works: £33k adverse variance –Initial spend was 
incurred to get projects underway within the Town Centre, as approved by Full 
Council in February 2020, including the purchasing of new cleaning equipment 

The Director (Corporate Services) and the Principal Accountant (General Fund) fielded 
further questions from the Committee and explained that: 

Page 4



Finance and Audit Committee 21.07.2020

3

 There was a typographical error at 3.11.1 of the report; it should be a ‘£74K 
favourable variance’ 

 In response to a question around IT equipment and homeworking, it was explained 
that there had already been a large degree of investment in IT equipment prior to 
COVID-19 as part of the council’s Brexit preparations to improve the ability for the 
workforce to work remotely due to potential risks around traffic congestion in the 
county. The lockdown situation accelerated this work further as the majority of staff 
had to be set up to work from home in a short space of time; currently the majority of 
the Council work force is still working from home. Moving forward, the council will 
look to further develop flexible working arrangements through the project to 
implement Microsoft Office 365, which had commenced prior to COVID-19. 

 In response to a question regarding carry forward requests, the Younger and Older 
Persons Funds were requested to be rolled forward from the 2018-19 budget as 
funds were allocated but not fully spent by the end of the financial year.

 The total funding received from Central Government to assist the Council with the 
response to the pandemic had increased over the last week to £1.3 million 

 A paper was submitted to Cabinet on 29 June 2020 setting out the initial estimates of 
the cost to Council from the COVID-19 pandemic and the most significant impacts 
were expected to be to the council’s income streams, for example  from reduced  
Council Tax and Fees and Charges payments. The Council anticipated an impact of 
£3.75 million for the current financial year which was a significant figure when 
compared to the Council’s £11.4 million net budget for 2019-20; the cumulative 
impact as presented across the Medium Term Financial Plan from 2020/21 to 
2028/29 has been initially estimated at £5.67 million. Due to the continued 
uncertainty of the future of Local Government funding and the significance of the 
impact from COVID-19, a follow up report will be submitted to Cabinet in September 
2020. Before the budget setting in February 2020, the Leader has requested a paper 
be brought to Full Council to allow all Members to understand and discuss the impact 
of COVID-19 on the Council’s financial position 

 The Council is a member of the Kent Business Rates Pool and as part of that 
arrangement certain monies that would have been paid to central Government as a 
levy can be retained by Kent as a whole or by individual local authorities. At year 
end, one way in which retained funds are held by the council is through the NNDR 
Growth Fund which is used to support economic development projects in the 
Borough 

 The 2020/21 budget for Planning Services was based on there being a full 
establishment of officers; in the past there have been difficulties recruiting to the 
professional posts across the council, not just in Planning Services, but the team 
have been working towards ensuring the Planning Team are fully resourced 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) agreed to contact the budget holders for the 
following areas with adverse variances and circulate a document with further information 
about each of them to the Committee: 

 Denton and Southfield Shaw Repairs: £93k adverse variance 
 Waste Recycling Support Payment: £90k adverse variance 
 Net income deficit within Car Parks: £106k adverse variance

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that a response would be circulated after the 
meeting regarding the Woodville’s auditorium floor and the price difference between 

Page 5



Finance and Audit Committee 21.07.2020

4

maintaining the floor and fully replacing it as well as the reason it was not regularly 
maintained.  

The Director (Corporate Services) agreed to circulate a document setting out the St Georges 
Centre financial transaction in August. 

The Chair thanked the officers for their detailed responses. 

59. Housing Revenue Account Provisional Outturn Report 

The Committee was presented with:

 The 2019/20 provisional Housing Revenue Account Revenue Outturn and 
movements in the Housing Revenue Account working balances and earmarked 
reserves

 The 2019/20 provisional Housing Revenue Account Capital Outturn

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) advised that the report was labelled as provisional 
as it was still subject to the external audit process and the receipt of the final audit opinion 
which will come to the Finance & Audit Committee in due course. 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) directed Members to page 35 of the report which 
held an Executive Summary of the information in the report pertaining to the:  

 HRA (Revenue) 
 Housing Capital 

Members were updated on other key areas of financial performance that may impact the 
HRA Business Plan. 

Following Members comments and questions, the Director (Corporate Services), the 
Principal Accountant (General Fund) and the Deputy Principal Accountant explained that: 

 Covid -19: £50k adverse variance – The Covid-19 pandemic increased the 
probability of loss of income in respect of housing and sundry debt, and as a result 
an additional debt impairment provision was made to offset any potential loss directly 
associated with the pandemic. Once year end is reached, a decision will be made on 
whether the provision is still required and if not then the monies will be released into 
the HRA Budget which will result in a positive variance. The report only went up to 
the 31 March 2020 and the necessary amount of bad debt provision to mitigate the 
impact of COVID-19 was measured to that timeframe. The initial estimates calculated 
through a risk assessment advised that there would be a £50K impact on rents and 
service charges. The figure will continue to be reviewed during the 2020-21 financial 
year.

 Warden Salary Recharges: £432k adverse variance – The recharges of warden’s 
salaries were established a number of years ago.  The Warden Service salaries were 
removed from the budget last year following the introduction of Intensive Housing 
Management; the adverse variance was attributed to an adjustment made to correct 
an error which had resulted in the recharges remaining in the budget but no longer 
being required.

Page 6



Finance and Audit Committee 21.07.2020

5

 Council Tax: £22k adverse variance – The Housing Revenue Account is 
responsible for making payment of Council Tax on empty properties which have been 
void for a period of one month; there were a multitude of reasons as to why a 
property may be vacant. Usually they were vacant for only a short period of time 
although some properties remained vacant for longer due to long term repairs that 
were required or the time taken to reflect taking longer than one month. 

 In setting the budget for 2019-20 the Council made a commitment to build new 
homes with £7,662,300 allocated for that purpose; since the time of setting the 
budget there had been some slippage in delivery programmes so funds would be 
rolled over to this financial year to continue the commitment. 

The Deputy Principal Accountant agreed to the following:  

 Garage Income: £53k adverse variance –the Deputy Principal Accountant agreed 
to obtain further information on the delay in implementing revised charges for council-
owned garages and circulate a response to the Committee 

 Disabled Facility Grants – information will be circulated to the Committee explaining 
what the grants were, how they benefitted residents and how residents could apply 
for them 

The Chair stated that the response to the Disabled Facility Grants should also be included in 
the Members Bulletin. 

The Chair thanked the officers for their detailed responses. 

60. Annual Treasury Management Review 2019-20 

The Committee was presented with a report that updated them on treasury management 
activity during 2019-20 in accordance with the requirements of the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA’s) revised code on Treasury Management.

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) outlined key points from the report regarding: 

 The Councils’ Capital Expenditure and Financing 
 The Council’s Overall Borrowing Need 
 The Treasury Position as at 31 March 2020 
 The Investment Strategy and Control of Interest Rate Risk for 2019/20 
 The Borrowing Strategy and Control of Interest Rate Risk Rates in 2019-20 
 The Borrowing Outturn for 2019-20 
 The Investment Outturn for 2019/20 
 UK Sovereignty 

Concern was raised by a Member over the ‘authorised spending limit’ as in 2019/20 the limit 
stood at £154 million with the description stating that it was sustainable in the short term but 
unsustainable in the long term. That figure had increased to nearly £257 million and 
clarification was sought by the Committee on that statement and at what point the total figure 
will actually become unsustainable for the Council. 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that it was important to differentiate between ‘the 
authorised limit’ and ‘the operational boundary’; the latter was the expected borrowing 
position of the Council during the year. Whereas the former was the affordable borrowing 

Page 7



Finance and Audit Committee 21.07.2020

6

limit that officers could go up to if there was a cashflow issue and a level of borrowing was 
necessary to assist in managing short term cash flow issues. The ‘operational boundary’ was 
a truer figure of the Council’s actual borrowing need and the increase in the expected 
borrowing limit in 2019-20 was due to the St Georges Centre financial transaction; that 
decision was approved by Full Council. 

Concern was raised by a Member over the Committee’s understanding of sustainability and 
the risk of increasing the Council’s gross external debt, using the CIPFA Resilience Index as 
a reference point.  

The Director (Corporate Services) explained that it was problematic directly comparing all 
English Council’s against the CIPFA Resilience Index; some local authorities had Housing 
Revenue Accounts and some didn’t which meant those without a HRA had not been 
required to borrow money to purchase their housing stock in 2012. It is also important to 
understand the level and sources of income to support any borrowing undertaken.

It was resolved that: 

 The Finance and Audit Committee recommended to Full Council that the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement 2020/21 was updated to reflect a revised 
sovereignty rating for the UK as detailed in Section 9 of the report

 The Finance and Audit Committee noted the contents of the report.

61. Annual Governance Statement 2019-20 

Member’s approval was sought for the Council’s Annual Governance Statement for the 
2019-20 financial year. 

The Director (Corporate Services) outlined the key points from the report regarding the 
annual review of the Council’s governance framework 2019-20 and drew Members attention 
to the following: 

 The AGS for 2019-20 was prepared against the findings of the annual review of 
governance arrangements. Page 75 of the report presented Members with a copy of 
the Full Governance Review and its outcomes;  the document was reviewed and 
agreed by the Section 151 Officer, the Monitoring Officer and the Planning and Policy 
Manager 

 A copy of the statement, including a relevant suite of actions for consideration, was 
attached at Appendix Four to the report.

 Whilst no significant control issues were identified, the review presented some 
opportunities to further develop and strengthen the Council’s governance framework 
and system of internal control in 2020-21. The plan for activity in the coming year 
was presented in section 14 of the AGS 

 The Annual Governance Statement will be signed by the Chair of the Finance & Audit 
Committee upon approval by Members 

The Chair sought clarification on health and safety arrangements for officers working from 
home and in different environments from the Civic Centre. 

Page 8



Finance and Audit Committee 21.07.2020

7

The Director (Corporate Services) confirmed that as part of the home working arrangements 
that came into effect very quickly due to lockdown, a staff risk assessment was sent to every 
staff member so that they could assess their work environment. Using this information, 
Managers had been able to make adjustments where necessary for staff members and other 
staff members were brought back into the office if their home environment was not suitable 
for them. The Council supported all staff with health and wellbeing issues during the 
lockdown and will continue to do so. 

The Director (Corporate Services) added that a review of working arrangements will be 
picked up within the review of the council’s response to the COVID-19 crisis. 

It was resolved that: 

 The Finance & Audit Committee noted the findings of the review of the council’s 
governance arrangements for 2019-20 

 The Finance & Audit Committee approved and supported the Annual Governance 
Statement for the 2019-20 financial year.

62. Annual Audit & Counter Fraud Report 2019-20 

The Committee was informed of the work completed during 2019-20 and presented with the 
opinion of the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service, as Chief Audit Executive, on 
the Council’s internal control environment. 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service advised that the opinion was listed in full 
on page 116 of the report, this being that:

‘It is therefore my opinion that Gravesham Borough Council’s framework of governance, risk 
management and system of internal control is adequate and effective, and contributes to the 
proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources in achieving the council’s 
objectives.’

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service further guided Members through the 
report and highlighted key points from the following areas: 

 Independence 
 Resources 
 The Results of Planned Audit & Counter Fraud Work 
 2018-19 Internal Audit Assurance work Finalised in 2019-20
 2019-20 Internal Audit Assurance work
 Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme
 Follow up of agreed recommendations
 Recommendations outstanding more than six months after scheduled 

implementation date 

Concern was raised by a Member over any delays in putting arrangements in place to 
monitor sickness and absence during the lockdown. 

The Director (Corporate Services) explained that HR had been working on the arrangements 
prior to COVID and had reinforced the reporting requirements during COVID-19 which was 

Page 9



Finance and Audit Committee 21.07.2020

8

successful. The Director (Corporate Services) advised that she had received information 
relating to sickness absence within her directorate every month, which assisted her in 
managing any issues in Corporate Services. 

It was resolved that: 

 The Finance & Audit Committee endorsed the work undertaken by the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Shared Service for Gravesham during 2019-20 in providing an 
effective service to the Council 

 The Finance & Audit Committee considered and endorsed the opinion on the 
Council’s internal control environment

63. Draft Audit Plan 2020-21 

Approval was sought from the Committee for a Revised Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2020-21 
for Gravesham. 

A risk based plan to determine the priorities of the internal audit activity was prepared and 
presented to the Finance & Audit Committee on 10 March 2020 for approval. However, since 
that plan was approved there have been significant changes to the way in which the Internal 
Audit and Counter Fraud resource had been deployed since 1 April caused by the impact of 
the Covid19 pandemic; this resulted in the need for a revised plan to be created for the 
period 01 July 2020 to 31 March 2021.

The Head of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service stated that Appendix Two to the 
report outlined the full Revised Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2020-21 and appendix three 
outlined the planned assurance reviews that were no longer on the 2020-21 plan. 
 
It was resolved that: 

 The Finance & Audit Committee approved the revised Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 
2020-21 for Gravesham presented at Appendix 2 

 The Finance & Audit Committee approved the proposal for only two progress 
updates to be provided in year 

 The Finance & Audit Committee approved the request for urgent changes to the plan 
to be agreed by the Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee in consultation with the 
Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud; only in the event that the Committee will not 
meet in time to agree the changes 

64. Fee Scale for the 2020-21 Audit and update on 2019-20 fees 

The Committee was presented with the fee scale for the 2020-21 external audit and given an 
update on 2019-20 audit. 

The Director (Corporate Services) explained that: 

 The document set out the formal communication from Public Sector Audit 
Appointments (PSAA)to confirm the scale fee for the 2020-21 financial year

 The scale fee would be remaining at the same level it had been since 2018-19 

Page 10



Finance and Audit Committee 21.07.2020

9

 The report referenced potential fee variations which the Committee had discussed 
previously for the 2019-20 financial year; any fee variations conversations will be 
continued with the PSAA 

 A number of reviews of the external audit process were being undertaken and 
Members were advised that a report on the findings of the Redmond Review is 
expected to be published in September 2020; once published it will be brought to the 
Committee for Members consideration 

Following a question, the Director (Corporate Services) confirmed that the scale fee was 
exclusive of VAT and the Council would be able to recover the cost of VAT so the figure 
shown in the document was the true cost of external audit to the Council. 

It was resolved that:

 The Finance and Audit Committee noted the information contained within the report. 

65. Draft response to Letter to Those Charged with Governance 

Members were provided with the opportunity to consider and discuss a number of questions 
posed by the External Auditors to the Finance & Audit Committee in relation to the Council’s 
arrangements to manage fraud risk and ensure legislative compliance.

As part the audit risk assessment procedures, Grant Thornton UK LLP posed a number of 
questions directly to the Finance & Audit Committee regarding how the committee oversaw 
the Council’s management processes and arrangements. A copy of the letter sent to the 
Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee was provided at Appendix Two and the draft 
responses to the questions were listed at Appendix Three for Members to approve.  

It was resolved that: 

 The Finance & Audit Committee considered and agreed that the response to the 
letter from Grant Thornton UK LLP, as set out in Appendix Three of this report, was 
consistent with its understanding of the Council’s management processes and 
arrangements 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 21:19pm. 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee

Date: 13 October 2020

Reporting officer: Service Manager, Customer & Theatre Services

Subject: Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Annual 
Review Letter 2019 - 20

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide the Finance and Audit Committee with a copy of the Local Government & Social 
Care Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter for Gravesham.

Recommendations:
This report is for information and to support transparency and learning from complaints.

1. Background

1.1 The Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman (LG&SCO) publish an annual review 
letter for each authority, summarising the complaints and enquiries they have dealt with 
over the past year, along with the action taken i.e. whether the complaint was 
investigated. Gravesham Borough Council’s annual letter is attached as Appendix II.

2. Year End Findings for Gravesham Borough Council

2.1 For the year ending 31 March 2020, the LG&SCO received a total of 19 complaints or 
enquiries about Gravesham Borough Council services (Appendix III). The majority 
related to Housing (9) with others relating to Planning, Benefits, Environmental, Highway 
or Corporate matters.

2.2 Of the 19 contacts, decisions were made for all of them, along with 2 complaints 
received in the previous financial year. The outcomes were as follows:

 9 of the contacts were referred back to Gravesham Borough Council as 
premature, i.e. the complaint process had not been concluded. 

 Advice was given for 3 contacts i.e. the matter was outside the Ombudsman’s 
jurisdiction or there was an alternative route to deal with the issue.  

 1 contact was incomplete or invalid

 8 contacts resulted in some form of enquiry or investigation by the Ombudsman; 
4 were closed after initial enquiries; 3 were investigated but not uphold as there 
no finding of mal-administration. One complaint was upheld on the basis of mal-
administration, but not that injustice had been suffered. The decision letter in 
relation to this complaint is attached at Appendix IV.

3. Recommendations

3.1 This report contains no recommendations and is for information only to support 
transparency and learning from complaints.

Page 13 Agenda Item 5



4. Background papers

4.1 Further information is available on the LG&SCO website at www.lgo.org.uk

Page 14

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             APPENDIX 1

Legal The Local Government Act 1974 (the '1974 Act') established the, then, Local 
Government Ombudsman for England and for Wales and defines the main statutory 
functions as follows:

 to investigate complaints against councils and some other authorities
 to investigate complaints about adult social care providers from people who 

arrange or fund their adult social care (Health Act 2009)
 to provide advice and guidance on good administrative practice

The main activity under Part III of the 1974 Act is the investigation of complaints, 
which the Act states is limited to complaints from members of the public alleging 
they have suffered injustice as a result of maladministration and/or service failure. 

Under Part IIIA the Ombudsman investigates complaints from people who allege 
they have suffered injustice as a result of action by adult social care providers. The 
Ombudsmen's jurisdiction under Part III covers all local authorities (excluding town 
and parish councils); police and crime bodies; school admission appeal panels and 
a range of other bodies providing local services. 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

The LG&SCO annual report summarises the complaints it has investigated in 
relation to Gravesham Borough Council in the previous financial year. Good 
complaint handling ensures instances of service failures or injustice are limited and 
that improvements to services can be identified at the earliest opportunity.

Risk 
Assessment

This report is for information only.

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment

Screening for Equality Impacts

Question Answer Explanation

a. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended 
through this paper 
have potential to 
cause adverse impact 
or discriminate against 
different groups in the 
community?

No This report is not 
proposing decisions or 
changes to services. It 
provides information about 
the LG&SCO complaint 
handling. 

b. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended 
through this paper 
make a positive 
contribution to 
promoting equality?

No As above, the report is 
not proposing decisions 
or changes to service.

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 
identified above?

N/A N/A

Page 15



In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming they have given 
due regard to equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted in the 
table above

Corporate 
Business 
Plan

Corporate Plan Objective 4 – Sound & self-sufficient council

Crime and 
Disorder

Good complaint handling can help to identify issues that may link, for example, anti-
social behaviour. Effective management of complaints can therefore lead to a 
reduction in such instances or appropriate action being taken to address them.

Climate 
Change

N/A This report is for information only and relates to the handling of complaints.

Page 16



 

 

 

 

22 July 2020 
 
By email 
 
Mr Bobby 
Chief Executive 
Gravesham Borough Council 
 
Dear Mr Bobby  
 
Annual Review letter 2020 
 
I write to you with our annual summary of statistics on the decisions made by the Local 

Government and Social Care Ombudsman about your authority for the year ending            

31 March 2020. Given the exceptional pressures under which local authorities have been 

working over recent months, I thought carefully about whether it was still appropriate to send 

you this annual update. However, now, more than ever, I believe that it is essential that the 

public experience of local services is at the heart of our thinking. So, I hope that this 

feedback, which provides unique insight into the lived experience of your Council’s services, 

will be useful as you continue to deal with the current situation and plan for the future. 

Complaint statistics 

This year, we continue to place our focus on the outcomes of complaints and what can be 

learned from them. We want to provide you with the most insightful information we can and 

have made several changes over recent years to improve the data we capture and report. 

We focus our statistics on these three key areas: 

Complaints upheld - We uphold complaints when we find some form of fault in an 

authority’s actions, including where the authority accepted fault before we investigated. A 

focus on how often things go wrong, rather than simple volumes of complaints provides a 

clearer indicator of performance. 

Compliance with recommendations - We recommend ways for authorities to put things 

right when faults have caused injustice. Our recommendations try to put people back in the 

position they were before the fault and we monitor authorities to ensure they comply with our 

recommendations. Failure to comply with our recommendations is rare. An authority with a 

compliance rate below 100% should scrutinise those complaints where it failed to comply 

and identify any learning. 

Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority - We want to encourage the early 

resolution of complaints and to credit authorities that have a positive and open approach to 

Page 17



resolving complaints. We recognise cases where an authority has taken steps to put things 

right before the complaint came to us. The authority upheld the complaint and we agreed  

with how it offered to put things right.  

Finally, we compare the three key annual statistics for your authority with similar types of 

authorities to work out an average level of performance. We do this for County Councils, 

District Councils, Metropolitan Boroughs, Unitary Councils, and London Boroughs. 

This data will be uploaded to our interactive map, Your council’s performance, along with a 

copy of this letter on 29 July 2020, and our Review of Local Government Complaints. For 

further information on how to interpret our statistics, please visit our website. 

Resources to help you get it right 

There are a range of resources available that can support you to place the learning from 

complaints, about your authority and others, at the heart of your system of corporate 

governance. Your council’s performance launched last year and puts our data and 

information about councils in one place. Again, the emphasis is on learning, not numbers. 

You can find the decisions we have made, public reports we have issued, and the service 

improvements your Council has agreed to make as a result of our investigations, as well as 

previous annual review letters.  

I would encourage you to share the tool with colleagues and elected members; the 

information can provide valuable insights into service areas, early warning signs of problems 

and is a key source of information for governance, audit, risk and scrutiny functions. 

Earlier this year, we held our link officer seminars in London, Bristol, Leeds and Birmingham. 

Attended by 178 delegates from 143 local authorities, we focused on maximising the impact 

of complaints, making sure the right person is involved with complaints at the right time, and 

how to overcome common challenges.  

We have a well-established and successful training programme supporting local authorities 

and independent care providers to help improve local complaint handling. During the year, 

we delivered 118 courses, training more than 1,400 people. This is 47 more courses than we 

delivered last year and included more training to adult social care providers than ever before. 

To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
Michael King 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England

Page 18

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-local-authority-statistics
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
http://www.lgo.org.uk/training


Gravesham Borough Council 

For the period ending: 31/03/20                                                               

 

 

 

Complaints upheld 

  

25% of complaints we 
investigated were upheld. 

This compares to an average of 
45% in similar authorities. 

 
 

1                          
upheld decision  

 
Statistics are based on a total of 4 

detailed investigations for the 
period between 1 April 2019 to 31 

March 2020 

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations 

  

In 100% of cases we were 
satisfied the authority had 
successfully implemented our 
recommendations. 

This compares to an average of 
99% in similar authorities. 

 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 1 
compliance outcome for the period 
between 1 April 2019 to 31 March 

2020 

• Failure to comply with our recommendations is rare. An authority with a compliance rate below 100% should 
scrutinise those complaints where it failed to comply and identify any learning. 
 

Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority 

  

In 0% of upheld cases we found 
the authority had provided a 
satisfactory remedy before the 
complaint reached the 
Ombudsman.  

This compares to an average of 
20% in similar authorities. 

 

0                      
satisfactory remedy decisions 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 4 
detailed investigations for the 

period between 1 April 2019 to 31 
March 2020 

 
 

25% 

100% 

0% 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference Authority Category Decided Decision Decison Reason Remedy Service improvement recommendations
18012741 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 17/04/2019 Not Upheld no mal     
18016083 Gravesham Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 29/01/2020 Not Upheld no mal     

18019638 Gravesham Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 21/10/2019 Upheld mal no inj
Procedure or policy
change/review

The Council should review its enforcement policy in
relation to residents dropped kerb parking
enforcement. It should provide evidence of its review
to the Ombudsman.

19000349 Gravesham Borough Council Planning & Development 16/05/2019 Closed after initial enquiries 26(6)(b) appeal to Minister     
19003907 Gravesham Borough Council Highways & Transport 01/10/2019 Not Upheld No worthwhile outcome achievable by further investigation     
19004136 Gravesham Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 13/06/2019 Referred back for local resolution Premature Decision - advice given     
19005932 Gravesham Borough Council Corporate & Other Services 11/10/2019 Closed after initial enquiries No worthwhile outcome achievable by investigation     
19007766 Gravesham Borough Council Planning & Development 07/08/2019 Referred back for local resolution Premature Decision - advice given     
19007893 Gravesham Borough Council Highways & Transport 09/08/2019 Referred back for local resolution Premature Decision - advice given     
19009230 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 11/10/2019 Closed after initial enquiries 26(6)(c) Court remedy     
19010311 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 18/09/2019 Referred back for local resolution Premature Decision - advice given     
19012957 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 31/10/2019 Referred back for local resolution Premature Decision - advice given     
19012960 Gravesham Borough Council Benefits & Tax 31/10/2019 Referred back for local resolution Premature Decision - advice given     
19013199 Gravesham Borough Council Benefits & Tax 05/11/2019 Incomplete/Invalid Insufficient information to proceed and PA advised     
19015917 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 14/02/2020 Closed after initial enquiries Sch 5.5A/5.5B Social housing landlord     
19017013 Gravesham Borough Council Planning & Development 13/01/2020 Referred back for local resolution Premature Decision - advice given     
19017475 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 05/02/2020 Advice given Signpost - go to complaint handling     
19017832 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 24/01/2020 Advice given Signpost - go to complaint handling     
19017839 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 24/01/2020 Advice given Signpost - go to complaint handling     
19019148 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 14/02/2020 Referred back for local resolution Premature Decision - advice given     
19020297 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 03/03/2020 Referred back for local resolution Premature Decision - advice given     

P
age 21



Reference Authority Category Received
18016083 Gravesham Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 28 Jun 2019
19000349 Gravesham Borough Council Planning & Development 05 Apr 2019
19003907 Gravesham Borough Council Highways & Transport 11 Jun 2019
19004136 Gravesham Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 13 Jun 2019
19005932 Gravesham Borough Council Corporate & Other Services 09 Jul 2019
19007766 Gravesham Borough Council Planning & Development 07 Aug 2019
19007893 Gravesham Borough Council Highways & Transport 09 Aug 2019
19009230 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 03 Sep 2019
19010311 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 18 Sep 2019
19012957 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 31 Oct 2019
19012960 Gravesham Borough Council Benefits & Tax 31 Oct 2019
19013199 Gravesham Borough Council Benefits & Tax 05 Nov 2019
19015917 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 17 Dec 2019
19017013 Gravesham Borough Council Planning & Development 13 Jan 2020
19017475 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 05 Feb 2020
19017832 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 24 Jan 2020
19017839 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 24 Jan 2020
19019148 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 14 Feb 2020
19020297 Gravesham Borough Council Housing 03 Mar 2020

P
age 22



Reference Authority Category Decided Remedy Remedy Target Date Remedy Achieved DateSatisfaction with Compliance
18019638 Gravesham Borough Council Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 21-Oct-19 Procedure or policy change/review 21-Jan-20 11-Nov-19 Remedy complete and satisfied

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

21 October 2019

Complaint reference: 
18 019 638

Complaint against:
Gravesham Borough Council

The Ombudsman’s final decision
Summary: Mrs X complains the Council has not properly investigated 
her complaints about anti-social behaviour from her neighbours. She 
has a number of different complaints about her neighbour’s behaviour. 
The Council is not at fault in its approach to most of her complaints. 
However, it was at fault for its approach to her complaint about her 
neighbour’s parking, but I do not consider this caused Mrs X an 
injustice. We have made recommendations to remedy the fault.

The complaint
1. Mrs X complains that the Council:

• Has not dealt with noise nuisance and anti-social behaviour from her 
neighbours

• Has not dealt effectively with her complaint that her neighbour regularly parked 
in front of her drive.

• Has been caused an injustice by the Council’s ineffective approach as her 
neighbors’ behavior has been allowed to go unchecked.

The Ombudsman’s role and powers
2. We cannot investigate late complaints unless we decide there are good reasons. 

Late complaints are when someone takes more than 12 months to complain to us 
about something a council has done. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26B and 34D, as 
amended)

3. We investigate complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service failure’. I have 
used the word fault to refer to these. We must also consider whether any fault has 
had an adverse impact on the person making the complaint. I refer to this as 
‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused an injustice, we may suggest 
a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 26A(1), as amended)

4. If we are satisfied with a council’s actions or proposed actions, we can complete 
our investigation and issue a decision statement. (Local Government Act 1974, section 
30(1B) and 34H(i), as amended)

How I considered this complaint
5. I spoke with the complainant and reviewed the photographs and evidence she 

provided.

Page 25



    

Final decision 2

6. I made enquires and further enquiries with the Council. I have reviewed its 
response in relation to the relevant legislation and policy and guidance.

7. I gave both the complainant and the Council the opportunity to comment on my 
draft decision. 

What I found
Relevant law

Anti-social behaviour
8. Anti-social behaviour is defined as being:

• conduct that has caused, or is likely to cause, harassment, alarm or distress to 
any person.

• conduct capable of causing nuisance or annoyance to a person in relation to 
that person’s occupation of residential premises, or

• conduct capable of causing housing related nuisance or annoyance to any 
person. (The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, (“the Act”)

Examples include:
• verbal and physical threats and abuse and harassment
• animals not being kept under control 
• nuisance, rowdy or inconsiderate neighbours
• littering, fly tipping, dumping or abandoned vehicles

9. On-going anti-social behaviour may need intervention by organisations such as 
councils, police, the health service and registered social landlords. 

10. The Act also gives the Council powers to order dog-owners to take steps to 
handle their dog more responsibly. 

Parking at dropped footways
11. The Traffic Management Act 2004 enables authorities with civil parking 

enforcement power to enforce parking at dropped footways.
12. The law says that cars must not park on the road next to a dropped kerb that has 

been lowered to help vehicles enter or leave their driveway.
13. There are exceptions to this rule. One of the exceptions is where a car is parked 

outside a residential premises with the consent of the occupier of the premises. 
(Section 86, Prohibition of parking at dropped footways etc, Traffic Management Act 2004)

14. Local authorities must have regard to the Secretary of State’s Statutory Guidance 
to Local Authorities on the Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions. (Section 87, 
Traffic Management Act 2004, “The Guidance”)

15. The Guidance says:
• Parking policies including enforcement should be proportionate (Para 2.3)
• Enforcement authorities should design their parking policies with particular 

regard to a number of factors. One of which is managing and reconciling the 
competing demands for kerb space. (Para 2.4). In the now withdrawn 
Operational Guidance to local authorities: parking policy and enforcement 
document, it also stated that this management should also apply to residents 
kerb space.

Page 26



    

Final decision 3

• Once authorities have finalised their parking enforcement policies, they should 
publish and promote them openly. (Para 5.2)

16. The now withdrawn Operational Guidance to local authorities: parking policy and 
enforcement document, also stressed that local authorities should have a clear 
idea of what its parking policy is. It said it should appraise its policy and its 
objectives regularly.

The Council’s policy on parking across dropped footways
17. The Council’s policy on enforcing against contraventions of the above legislation 

was historically provided by the county council. The Council says the county 
council previously decided what parking offences the Council would and would 
not enforce. However, in 2011 it relaxed the rules and allowed district councils, 
including the Council, to make decisions locally about enforcement of this type.

18. The Council says it does not have a record to show it has ever considered its 
approach to enforcement. It says it will take appropriate steps to remedy this. 

19. However, it says the Council continued not to enforce at dropped kerbs at private 
properties. It says this is common with other local authorities.

20. It says it expects the decision not to enforce at dropped kerbs at private 
properties will remain, for the following reasons:
• It would be impossible to resource the parking team to ensure consistent and 

fair patrols of areas where there are dropped kerbs to private properties. 
• It would be difficult for the enforcement officer, if a vehicle was found to be 

parked across a private dropped kerb, to ascertain if permission had been 
granted and therefore to know whether to enforce. 

• As a dropped kerb effectively guarantees a parking space on the highway, 
because those without permission cannot park next to it, there is a risk that 
property owners could rent out that space.  

• There is a risk that the authority could become embroiled in neighbourhood 
disputes. 

• There is a risk that the service could be seen as an ‘on demand’ service for 
residents who have a dropped kerb. 

Background
21. Mrs X and her husband Mr X say that they have been experiencing anti-social 

behaviour from their neighbours, Mr and Mrs P, for some time. In October 2017, 
the Council offered mediation. However, Mrs X says this did not help. 

22. They say that they experienced various types of anti-social behaviour from Mr 
and Mrs P, including:
• their dog jumping into their garden on a number of occasions over the past 

three years;
• The making of false complaints to social services about Mr and Mrs X;
• Them banging on the party wall between the two houses;
• Physical violence (which they accepted there was no proof of); and
• Parking across Mr and Mrs X’s dropped kerb

23. There is evidence in the records that the Council responded to Mrs X’s complaints 
about her neighbours. At one point Mrs X was given a number of a rescue service 

Page 27



    

Final decision 4

that would take Mr and Mrs P’s dog away. The Council provided diary sheets for 
Mrs X to record her concerns and I have seen evidence that the Council 
considered the diarised incidents recorded. 

24. However, Mrs X said the poor relationship between her and Mr and Mrs P 
escalated. Her case was transferred to the Councils anti-social behaviour team.

25. Other neighbours wrote to the Council in September 2018. They also complained 
about Mr and Mrs P’s behaviour. The neighbours sent their complaints to the 
Council in the form of a petition. The petition alleged:
“..uncultured behaviour including mentally torturing, threatening, annoying, loud 
shouting…breaking law and order (with no evidences behind) physical and verbal 
aggression (leaving no evidence behind) with us.”

26. The Council wrote to each of the neighbours who had complained on 27 
September 2018. It asked for further information and for this to be provided by 12 
October 2018.

27. The Council received three responses. The responses referred to parking issues, 
some of which referred to parking complaints in 2015 and 2016. One of the 
neighbours said that they felt sorry that the complainants had to live in such close 
proximity to Mr and Mrs P.

28. The officer who reviewed the responses said: “The above is nowhere near the 
level of activity that I could justify taking action on neither is it proportionate to 
that.” 

29. In October 2018 the Council granted Mr and Mrs P retrospective planning 
permission for a dropped kerb. It says it has not received any complaints this year 
about parking contraventions.

30. In November 2018 a police officer, PC1, visited Mrs X. She suggested to the 
Council that it might be advisable to work together to address the issues.

31. The Council responded to PC1, saying it had decided not to investigate. It said 
that while Mr and Mrs P had parked in front of Mrs X’s drive on occasion, she had 
not actually been blocked in.

32. The police also decided to close the case. They explained that the parking issue 
could be relieved by the fact that Mr and Mrs P’s application for a dropped kerb 
had been successful, meaning they should not have to park outside Mr and Mrs 
X’s house again.

33. On 28 December 2018 the Council wrote to the complainant, officially closing the 
complaint. It explained that it did not have enough evidence to take any action. It 
said that, if Mrs X had any robust evidence to support her claims, she should 
inform the Council and it could re-open the case.

34. Mrs X complained again. Mr and Mrs P are council tenants. She asked for them 
to be moved. The Council responded that they could not do that but if Mr and Mrs 
X would like to move, they could provide some assistance with that.

35. Mr and Mrs X did not want to do that. They continued to complain about anti-
social activity by Mr and Mrs P. 

Findings

Anti-social behaviour
36. The records I have seen show the Council investigated Mr and Mrs X’s 

complaints. It responded to their complaints by sending officers out to have 

Page 28



    

Final decision 5

discussions with their neighbours. It invited comment from other neighbours. 
However, the Council has to conduct proportionate investigations. Both Mrs X and 
the other neighbours who complained about Mr and Mrs P accepted they did not 
have evidence of the anti-social behaviour they complained of, some of which had 
taken place over a year previously. 

37. While I have seen video footage of Mr and Mrs P’s dog jumping into Mrs X’s 
garden, this is not evidence this occurred on a regular basis. I consider it was 
reasonable of the Council to conclude that it did not have enough evidence to 
take enforcement action against Mr and Mrs P. That is not to say that Mr and Mrs 
X were not subject to anti-social behaviour, but that the Council did not have 
sufficient evidence to take action. The Council said, that if the complainants were 
able to produce some evidence, they should contact the Council again. There is 
no fault here.

Parking enforcement
38. The Council does not have a record of the consideration it gave to the decision-

powers the county council gave it in relation to dropped kerb parking 
enforcement. This is fault. It should have a policy and that policy should be openly 
available to residents. I have made a recommendation to remedy this.

39. However, I cannot say its failure to have such a policy resulted in Mr and Mrs X 
suffering an injustice. The evidence suggests that, on the occasions when Mr and 
Mrs P parked in front of Mr and Mrs X’s driveway, they were not blocked in as 
their car was not on their driveway at the time. I cannot say whether the Council 
would have decided it was proportionate to enforce if it had been. Therefore, I do 
not consider I can find that Mr and Mrs X suffered any injustice by the Council’s 
failure to have a policy.

Recommended/ agreed action
Within three months of my decision, the Council should review its enforcement 
policy in relation to residents dropped kerb parking enforcement. It should provide 
evidence of its review to the Ombudsman.

Final decision
40. I found some fault in relation to the Council’s approach to the complainant’s 

complaint about parking but in general, I have not found the Council at fault I have 
now completed my investigation. 

Matters I have not investigated
41. The complainant has raised issues about other continuing complaints she has 

against the Council’s approach to the allegations she makes against Mr and Mrs 
P. These are issues raised after the beginning of Mrs X’s complaint to the 
Ombudsman and do not therefore form part of this investigation.

Investigator’s final decision 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 13 October 2020

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud Update report

Purpose and summary of report: 
Too provide Members with an update on the work, outputs and performance of the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 July 2020

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information only.

1. Introduction

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief 
audit executive must report periodically to senior management and the board on 
the internal audit activity’s purpose, authority, responsibility and performance 
relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk exposures and 
control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed 
or requested by senior management and the board.

2. Update Report

2.1 The report at Appendix 2 is the first of two updates to be produced during 2020-
21; detailing the work undertaken by the Audit & Counter Fraud Team between 01 
April and 31 August and the progress made against the revised workplan, which 
covers the period 01 July 2020 to 31 March 2021 and was approved by the 
Committee in July 2020. 

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 31 Agenda Item 6



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
    

Legal Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: 
undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk 
management, control and governance processes, taking into account public sector 
internal auditing standards or guidance. The Section 151 Officer of a local authority 
is responsible for establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough 
Council has delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway 
Council to deliver internal audit services through the Shared Service to both 
authorities. The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s 
Local Government Application Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources 
in delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have 
an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment This report, summarising the work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team, provides a 
key source of assurance for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its 
internal control arrangements

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Plan but is particularly relevant to Objective 
#3 Progress.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications to this report.

Page 32

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


3

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

The council’s performance management framework includes the publication of the 
outturns against the Performance Measures and Indicators in the Corporate 
Business Plan. The proportion of recommendations made by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team that are implemented by Management is one of the council’s overall 
Performance Indicators and is therefore reported to the public via the council’s 
Annual Report published on the council’s website. 

The Local Government Transparency Code requires the publication of data relating 
to Fraud Investigation; this is published in line with the requirements on the 
council’s website.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report.

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 24

Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Audit & Counter Fraud 
Update 

Gravesham Borough Council
For the period:

1 April – 31 August 2020

Page 35



Page 2 of 24

1. Introduction
1.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council was 

established on 1 March 2016. The team provides internal audit assurance and consultancy, proactive 
counter fraud and reactive investigation services, and the Single Point of Contact between both 
authorities and the Department for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service for their investigation of 
Benefits Fraud

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief audit executive must 
report periodically to senior management and the board on the internal audit activity’s purpose, 
authority, responsibility and performance relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk 
exposures and control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed or 
requested by senior management and the board.

2. Executive Summary
2.1 During quarter one of 2020-21, the service was undertaking a mixture of redeployment activities as part 

of the emergency response, which was largely targeted in areas where assurance/fraud prvention would 
still be the main focus, including;

 Team Leader attending resilience team meetings to provide assurance related advice on emergency 
decisions,

 monitoring of emergency decisions and checking for changes to the control environment,
 Validation of Business Support Grant applications, and
 Validation and assessment of Discretionary Business Grant Applications.

2.2 Outstanding reviews from 2019-20 were the main focus of activity during the reporting period as part of 
the recovery process and a return to business as usual when the service recommenced, although work 
on the 2020-21 plan also commenced from 01 July. The following audit reviews were finalised during the 
reporting period;
*items in italics had full details of the review included in the 2018-19 annual report

 Budget Monitoring – Opinion: Green (2019-20 review finalised in 2020-21)
 Unauthorised Encampments - Amber (2019-20 review finalised in 2020-21)
 Creditors – Opinion: Green (2019-20 review finalised in 2020-21)
 Housing Benefit Overpayments – Opinion: Green (2019-20 review finalised in 2020-21)
 Insurances – Opinion: Green (2019-20 review finalised in 2020-21)
 Asset Management - Opinion: Green (2019-20 review finalised in 2020-21)
 Sheltered Housing - Opinion: Amber (2019-20 review finalised in 2020-21)
 Governance Framework – Opinion: Amber (2019-20 review finalised in 2020-21)
 Responsive Repairs Service: Opinion: Green (2019-20 review finalised in 2020-21)
 Woodville Ticketing – Opinon: Green (2019-20 review finalised in 2020-21)
 Flexi, TOIL & Overtime – Counter Fraud review – Opinion: Amber (2019-20 review finalised in 2020-

21)
 Apprenticeship Scheme – Opinion: Amber (2019-20 review finalised in 2020-21)

In addition, one review has had fieldwork completed and is now going through the quality control 
process, six reviews are currently underway and commencement of a number of others is being 
arranged with clients. As a consequence of this work, plan delievery as at 31 August was 5% complete, 
with a further 29% underway. Full details of the individual reviews can be found in section 5 of this 
report.

2.3 Follow up of agreed recommendations was halted in March 2020 with the shutdown of the service but 
recommenced in June 2020. As of 31 August performance stood at 57%, with 16 of 28 recommendations 

Page 36



Page 3 of 24

due in the period having been implemented. Twelve remain outstanding and are being monitored in line 
with the agreed follow up process. Full details of the progress made in relation to recommendation 
follow up can be found at section 8.

2.4 Investigations concluded during the period have identified cashable savings of £29,264 in the form of 
additional council tax liabilities, both historic and future; and non-cashable savings of £97,000 resulting 
from the recovery of one council property and the removal of one person from the housing waiting list.

3. Independence
3.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter was approved by the Finance & Audit Committee in February 2020 

and sets out the purpose, authority and responsibility of the team. The Charter sets out the 
arrangements to ensure the team’s independence and objectivity through direct reporting lines to 
senior management and Members, and through safeguards to ensure officers remain free from 
operational responsibility and do not engage in any other activity that may impair their judgement. The 
work of the team during the period covered by this report has been free from any inappropriate 
restriction or influence from senior officers and/or Members.

3.2 Given its responsibilities for counter-fraud activities, the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service cannot 
provide independent assurance over the counter-fraud activities of either council. Instead, independent 
assurance over the effectiveness of these arrangements will be sought from an external supplier of audit 
services on a periodic basis. 

4. Resources
4.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service reports to the Section 151 Officers of Medway Council and 

Gravesham Borough Council. The team currently has an establishment of 14 officers, consisting of; the 
Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud, three Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders, eight Audit & 
Counter Fraud Officers (7.64 FTE), one audit & Counter Fraud Intelligence Analyst and one Audit & 
Counter Fraud Assistant.

4.2 The Shared Service Agreement sets out the basis for splitting the available resources between the two 
councils, approximately 64% for Medway, with the remaining 36% for Gravesham. The establishment at 
the time the Audit & Counter Fraud Plans for 2020-21 were prepared, was forecasted to provide a total 
of 1,895 days available for audit and counter fraud work (net of allowances for leave, training, 
management, administration etc.)  The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for Gravesham was prepared with a 
resource budget of 682 days. 

4.3 As reported to the Committee in July 2020, the Audit & Counter Fraud Service was shut down in March, 
having been identified as a non critical service, with staff to be redeployed to other services as part of 
the emergency response. As a consequence of this shut down in normal activity, the outstanding 
reviews from 2019-20 were completed during the first quarter of 2020-21 to limit a reduced level of 
assurance work to 2020-21.

4.4 Net staff days available for Gravesham for the period 1 April to 30 June 2020 amounted to 105 days and 
70 days (66%) were spent on chargeable audit and counter fraud work.  Of this chargeable time, 52 days 
(74%) was spent on audit assurance and consultancy work, while 18 (26%) was spent on counter fraud 
and investigations work. Most of the work undertaken during this period that related to 2019-20 
reviews was detailed in the annual report for 2019-20. Details of other work undertaken during quarter 
one are detailed in section 5 of this report.

4.5 The revised plan for Gravesham, which covers the period 01 July 2020 to 31 March 2021, was prepared 
with a resource budget of 488 days. Net staff days available for Gravesham for the period 1 July to 31 
August 2020 amounted to 150 days and 129 days (86%) were spent on chargeable audit and counter 

Page 37



Page 4 of 24

fraud work.  Of this chargeable time, 79 days (61%) was spent on audit assurance and consultancy work, 
while 50 (39%) was spent on counter fraud and investigations work.  The current status and results of all 
work carried out are detailed at section 5 of this report.

5. Results of planned Audit & Counter Fraud work
5.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2020-21 for Gravesham was approved by the Finance & Audit 

Committee in March 2020, however, the impact of the Covid 19 pandemic resulted in a revised plan for 
the period 01 July 2020 to 31 March 2021 being approved in July 2020. The Plan is intended to provide a 
clear picture of how the council will use the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service, reflecting all work to 
be carried out by the team for Gravesham during the financial year including the council’s core finance 
and governance arrangements, operational assurance work, proactive counter fraud work, responsive 
investigations and consultancy services. 

5.2 The tables below provide details of the work from 2019-20 that has been finalised in 2020-21, the 
progress of work undertaken as part of the 2020-21 annual plan and the results of investigative work 
completed during the period.  

Page 38



Page 5 of 24

2019-20 Internal Audit Assurance work completed in 2020-21 (since the last Audit Committee meeting)

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

16 Apprenticeship scheme 15 27.2 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – Effective arrangements are in place to deliver the council’s 
Apprenticeship Scheme.
The review found that although the council has an established apprenticeship 
scheme, there is not an apprenticeship strategy in place to set out the overall 
purpose and aims of scheme. There is also no information available regarding how 
the council will make best use of the apprenticeship levy (through the employment 
of fixed term apprentices and / or the upskilling of staff) and contribute to the 
Government’s local target for apprenticeships. In addition, there are no set 
procedures to identify and promote the use of the apprenticeships at the earliest 
opportunity for new posts and for the upskilling of existing staff; though it is 
understood that apprenticeship opportunities are considered when requests are 
made to Workforce Development for professional training.
The operational responsibilities for the implementation and advancement of the 
apprenticeship scheme have been allocated and there is an Apprenticeship Policy 
in place, which is intended to provide managers who may be involved in dealing 
with apprenticeships with information to ensure that the conduct of the 
placement is compliant with current legislation, and of maximum benefit to all 
involved. This does not however include any information regarding procedures for 
apprenticeships used to upskill existing staff. 
The council has an appropriately restricted GOV.UK Apprenticeship Service 
Account, which is used to get apprenticeship funding, find & save apprenticeships, 
find, save & manage training providers, recruit apprentices, and add & manage 
apprenticeships. Details of all apprentices, the courses being undertaken, 
apprenticeship levy contributions and payments to providers are also recorded on 
a spreadsheet, though it was noted that there were gaps in the information 
recorded and the financial information was not up to date. Since the 
apprenticeship scheme started in April 2017, the scheme has been used to fund 52 
apprenticeships, a mixture of fixed term apprenticeships and apprenticeships to 
upskill existing staff, and to date 12 apprenticeships are marked as having been 
completed.

P
age 39



Page 6 of 24

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

For all apprenticeships, an Apprenticeship Agreement is put in place between the 
council and the apprentice and an Apprenticeship Contract is put in place between 
the council and training provider.
Arrangements are in place to regularly monitor apprenticeships, with an 
Apprenticeship Champion in place to support all fixed term apprentices and an 
Apprenticeship Forum which apprentices and lines managers are encouraged to 
attend. 
Prescribed groups and public sector bodies with 250 or more staff in England have 
a government target to employ an average of at least 2.3% of their staff as new 
apprentice starts over the period of 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2021, with annual 
Apprenticeship Activity Returns submitted to Government. At the time of audit, 
the most recent return submitted by GBC covered the period 01 April 2018 to 31 
March 2019 and showed an outturn of 2.43%. The council also has an indicator in 
its Performance Management Framework, relating to the percentage of 
apprentices securing employment by the end of their apprenticeship; the 2019-20 
outturn for this indicator was 72.7%. Opinion: Amber.
RMO2 – Financial arrangements exist to support the Apprenticeship Scheme.
The review found that arrangements exist to pay the Apprenticeship Levy, this 
being paid through the payroll system using a pre-set formula to calculate the 
monthly levy payment, which populates the Real Time Information (RTI) file that is 
sent direct to HMRC each month. The levy payments made for March 2020 – May 
2020 were checked and confirmed to be correct.
Employers have 24 months to use their funds once they enter the Apprenticeship 
Service Account, and arrangements are in place for the account balance to be 
monitored; as of July 2020 no levy amounts had been lost by the council. 
Each training provider submits a monthly invoice through the Apprenticeship 
Service Account giving a breakdown of the apprentices and training it covers; the 
payment is automatically taken from the account. Currently no checks are 
undertaken to ensure that the amounts being paid are correct and audit testing 
identified some discrepancies in payments. Similarly, checks are not currently 
undertaken to ensure that incentives for employing apprentices between the age 
of 16- 18 years are being received. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two high, two medium and one low 
priority.

P
age 40



Page 7 of 24

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Recommendations relate to a strategy being produced to document the aims and 
objectives of the council’s  apprenticeship scheme and how these will be 
achieved; a process being put in place to ensure that apprenticeships are 
promoted and considered at the earliest stage of recruitment; the 
Apprenticeship Policy being reviewed and updated, arrangements being put in 
place for the apprenticeship spreadsheet to be monitored and updated regularly, 
and arrangements being made for checks to be undertaken of all payments to 
and from the Apprenticeship Service Account to ensure accuracy.

19 Woodville ticketing 10 15.4 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Arrangements are in place for ticketing at the Woodville.
The review found that the council entered into a two-year contract with 
TicketSolve in June 2019 to supply an effective and efficient ticket booking facility. 
The contract includes a comprehensive list of all the chargeable items that the 
company will provide and sets out clear expectations for both parties.
The Woodville has a dedicated website where details are available to the public of 
all shows and events that are taking place at the theatre. The website is checked 
daily and updated when necessary, i.e. when a new show or event comes on line. 
A page on the website provides information on how tickets can be booked and the 
booking and transaction fees that are charged, along with the methods of payment 
that can be used to purchase tickets. Customers have the option to choose how 
their tickets will be delivered when booking. 
The process for booking tickets is the same whether they are booked online, by 
phone or in person, with Box Office staff having access to the TicketSolve system 
to place bookings.
Arrangements are in place for booking and transaction fees to be applied to each 
ticket in accordance with the payment matrix set within the TicketSolve contract. A 
booking fee of £1.50 is added to all tickets and is included in the total ticket price 
seen by the customer. A £2.50 transaction fee is also added to each booking made 
on-line or by phone. A reconciliation report covering the month of July 2019 was 
inspected and showed that the correct booking / transaction fees had been 
applied to all ticket sales. 
The pricing matrix set in the TicketSolve contract specifies the fee that will be paid 
by the council to TicketSolve. TicketSolve submits an itemised invoice to the 
council each month showing the amount taken from ticket sales and therefore the 

P
age 41



Page 8 of 24

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

amount payable by the council based on the above percentages. Arrangements 
exist for invoices to checked and authorised, before being passed to the Finance 
section for payment.
For testing purposes the invoices and reconciliation reports covering the period 
June 2019 – November 2019 were checked to ensure that the council had been 
invoiced for the correct amount and that the correct percentage rate (as per the 
contract) had been charged. We were able to reconcile all invoiced amounts to the 
reconciliation reports, with a couple of minor discrepancies easily explained by the 
General Manager. We were also able to demonstrate that regular reconciliations 
and monitoring is carried out to ensure that all income from The Woodville is 
recorded on the General Ledger. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None

21 Responsive repairs 
service (including supplies 
management) 

20 28.9 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – Arrangements are in place to deliver the council’s responsive repairs 
service.
The review found that there is a Repairs Maintenance policy and Rechargeable 
Repairs policy in place, with information on repairs available on the council 
website; including booking of appointments online. All repairs and maintenance 
requests are prioritised depending on the type of repair; Emergency, Right to 
Repair and Routine. There are procedures in place to inform tenants that they are 
liable for the cost of a repair and to recharge them. The appointment process 
includes reminders to minimise the opportunity for tenants to forget and reduce 
officer time attending missed appointments. The council has procedures in place 
to charge tenants for three consecutive missed appointments. With a third party 
operating the out of hours Service on behalf of the council, there are also 
arrangements in place to monitor all out of hours appointments and engage with 
tenants to gauge satisfaction with the service received. 
The review considered all processes and found sufficient evidence to demonstrate 
they were working effectively and as expected. Where there was scope for minor 
improvements, recommendations have been made. Opinion: Green.
RMO2 – Arrangements exist for the management of supplies for repairs.
Having effective controls to manage the supplies used for repairs is important for 
controlling costs and minimising risks of stock misuse. The review found 
appropriate arrangements in place to control a stock of standard items and to 

P
age 42



Page 9 of 24

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

procure non-standard items when required. The arrangements include a supply of 
stock items in vans and the delivery of essential items to sites to ensure time is 
directed to carrying out repairs rather than travelling to collect stock. These 
effective arrangements also ensure costs for repairs are managed and monitored. 
Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: Two low priority.
Recommendations relate to a reminder of the process to record unsuccessful 
visits and identification of and taking action to correct variances in the repair 
recharge records.

34 Flexi, TOIL and overtime 15 19.5 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – Adequate arrangements are in place for the operation of the Council’s 
flexi and TOIL scheme.
The review found that while there are various documents and pages related to 
flexi-time in different areas of the council’s intranet, there is not a complete, up-
to-date document setting out the parameters of the scheme for staff.  There is also 
only brief reference to TOIL in these documents / pages.  Time recording sheets 
are made available on the intranet, although these contain dates for 2016-2017.
To ensure that the flexi and TOIL schemes are operating in accordance with the 
above guidance, a sample of ten timesheets was reviewed, including a comparison 
to data supplied from the leave booking system, SS4U.  The review found that for 
the most part, employees are following the guidance, however the following 
exceptions were identified: 

• recording flexi leave on timesheets but not on SS4U;
• inconsistencies in how flexi leave is booked on SS4U for part-days; 
• carrying over more than the permitted eight hours from one flexi period to 

the next and reducing the carry forward balance to 7:24 hrs rather than the 
permitted 8 hrs;

• not working the ‘core’ flexi hours;
• working more than the permitted six hours without a break;
• claiming incorrect hours for half and full days of leave;
• claiming authorised adjustments but not recording a reason for this or 

recording the wrong reason; 
• incorrectly recording time for personal appointments; 

P
age 43



Page 10 of 24

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

• Recording time spent working in the evening and at the weekend as flexi 
rather than TOIL and not recording TOIL on the appropriate sheet. 

It was noted that the current guidance lacks clarity on some of these issues. 
A survey of line managers was also undertaken and found that there are some 
inconsistencies in the manager oversight of the flexi and TOIL schemes, including 
access to staff timesheets, the frequency and evidencing of management checks 
and approaches to addressing concerns relating to flexi and TOIL. Opinion: Amber.
RMO2 – Adequate arrangements are in place for the operation of the Council’s 
overtime scheme.  
The review found that the council follows the National Joint Council for Local 
Government Services National Agreement on Pay and Conditions of Service (also 
known as the Green Book) that stipulates the grade of staff eligible to claim 
overtime and at what rate e.g. time and a half or double time.  For staff above the 
grade for overtime it states that the employing authority shall have discretion to 
pay overtime or an additional payment.  The process involved in claiming overtime 
is not in the Green Book but we were advised by Payroll that the majority of 
claimants claim via SS4U.  There is no local policy document.
Contracts of employment for a sample of 19 staff were requested from HR, 
although two of the contracts could not be located.  All but one of the contracts 
supplied included a section relating to the Conditions of Employment – Green Book 
(National Joint Council for Local Government Services) and state that employment 
with GBC is subject to the Conditions of Service of the National Joint Council for 
Local Government Services (Green Book) as supplemented by the council’s locally 
negotiated conditions. 
We were advised by Payroll that most overtime is entered on SS4U, although there 
are bulk overtime timesheets for some departments, both of which are created by 
the line manager.  We were also advised that service managers sign off overtime 
payments on SS4U.
Testing on the sample of 19 members of staff indicated that four had claimed 
overtime via SS4U.  Testing identified that one person, who is part-time and so 
would not be entitled to more than the plain rate of pay until the full time 
equivalent hours had been worked; received both time and a half and double time 
payments even though they had not exceeded full time hours.  This was queried 
with the service manager who stated that although this person is part-time, they 

P
age 44



Page 11 of 24

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

also work on a range of projects and events over and above this, which is why the 
overtime rate varies as this reflects weekends or bank holidays for example.  
However, another member of full-time staff only received plain time when the 
guidelines state the minimum rate to be time and a half.  
A review of a bulk overtime sheet in January 2020 indicated two members of staff 
with excessive overtime potentially in contravention of the Working Time 
Directive.  We were advised that this period would not have been representative 
of normal processes and they are in the process of recruiting additional staff, 
which will reduce the requirement of much of the overtime currently being 
undertaken. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: four high priority.
Recommendations relate to creating a central flexi / TOIL guidance document 
and circulating this to staff, reminding line managers of their role in checking 
time recording sheets on a regular basis to ensure there are no contraventions to 
the guidance, the creation of a local policy on overtime based around the 
guidance in the Green Book and any council additions to this, and service 
managers being reminded of this guidance.

2019-20 Internal Audit Assurance work

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Core governance and financial systems assurance work
1 NNDR collection 5 Fieldwork 

underway
The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place for the collection of NNDR.

2 Debtors 5 Fieldwork 
underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to administer and recover the council’s sundry 
debtors.

3 Project management - 
GDPR

10 Not yet started

4 Payroll establishment, 
payments & deductions

15 Not yet started

5 Capital accounting 15 Not yet started
6 Cyber security 15 Not yet started

P
age 45



Page 12 of 24

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

7 Member standards 15 Not yet started

Corporate risks assurance work
8 Purchase cards 5 Fieldwork 

complete, In 
quality control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Purchase Cards are adequately controlled.

9 Housing Benefit & CTR 
administration

5 Fieldwork 
underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Housing Benefit and CTR is appropriately administered and accurately 
calculated.

10 Open space 
management

15 Fieldwork 
underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place for the management of  the council’s 
parks and play areas.
RMO2 - There are arrangements in place to implement the government’s latest 
COVID-19 guidance.

11 IT asset management 15 Terms of Reference 
being prepared

12 Virtual committee 
meetings

15 Fieldwork 
underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to ensure remote committee meetings remain 
in line with constitutional requirements.

13 Shared services 15 Terms of Reference 
being prepared

14 Corporate debt recovery 15 Not yet started
15 Fly-tipping 15 Not yet started
16 Private housing 

enforcement
15 Not yet started

17 Planning applications 15 Not yet started
18 Community safety 15 Not yet started
19 Traded services - 

Rosherville Ltd
15 Not yet started

20 Responsive assurance 
work 

30 Underway Please see table on page 13.

Counter Fraud Assurance Work
23 Lone workers 15 Fieldwork 

underway
The review will consider the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Procedures in place to assist in the prevention of fraud by lone workers.

P
age 46



Page 13 of 24

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

RMO2 - Arrangements exist for detecting lone worker fraud.
RMO3 - Arrangements exist to deter lone workings officers from committing 
fraud.
RMO4 - Arrangements in place to support enforcement action being taken 
against officers who commit fraud.

24 Staff leave booking 15 Not yet started

Other consultancy services including advice & information

Activity Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Town Twinning Association Accounts The team carried out an audit of the Gravesham Town Twinning Association’s accounts.

Responsive Assurance Activity

Activity Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Business Support Grant Application validation Officers assisted with the validation of claims received for Business Support Grants 
using their expertise in fraud prevention and providing assurance over the application 
process.

Discretionary Business Grant application validation and assessment Officers assisted with the validation and assessment of applications received as part of 
the discretionary grants process.

Covid 19 Governance A Team Leader from the service was part of the Resilience Group during the emergency 
response, monitoring and logging any emergency decisions that may have impacted on 
the councils control environment. 

Counter Fraud Activity

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

P
age 47



Page 14 of 24

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

25 Proactive investigation 
work 

19 N/A Not yet started While time in the plan has been allocated to pro-active investigation work, the 
shut down of the service means that the time is likley to be reallocated to 
exisiting data matching exercises, such as the NFI. 

26 Data matching exercises 
(including NFI & KIN)

19 N/A Underway During the lockdown period the teams Intelligence Analyst was able to continue 
reviewing the HMRC data matches received as part of the 2018-19 NFI exercise 
and has significantly reduced the number of matches outstanding. The activity 
continues to clear the few remaining matches but some have progressed to full 
investigation.
Work will shortly commence on the council tax SPD matches received in January 
2020.

Reactive Investigations work: external investigations

Area
Number of 

referrals 
rejected

Number of 
investigations 

concluded
Summary of results Cashable Savings Non-cashable 

Savings Prevented Losses

Council Tax 4 26 Eight cases were concluded with no 
evidence of fraud. 18 cases concluded with 
the removal of the council tax 
discount/exemption or reduction.

£22,493 (Historic 
Liability) 
£6,771 (Additional 
liability for future 
years)

N/A N/A

Tenancy 0 3 Two cases concluded with no evidence of 
fraud.  One case concluded with the 
recovery of the council property.

N/A £93,000 N/A

Right to Buy 0 1 One case concluded with no evidence of 
fraud.

N/A N/A N/A

Homeless 1 0 One referral rejected due to insufficient 
information to justify investigation.

N/A N/A N/A

Housing Allocations 0 1 One case concluded with the applicant 
removed from the Housing Register

N/A £4,000 N/A

P
age 48



Page 15 of 24

Reactive Investigations work: internal investigations

Allegation Investigation activity & recommendations

Falsified Covid 19 Shielding Letters Allegations were received in relation to two employees who were suspected to have supplied falsified shielding 
letters to remain at home on full pay. Enquiries were commenced but both employees resigned shortly after 
notifications of the disciplinary investigation were issued. Following consultation with HR it was decided to 
accept the letters of resignation rather than pursue the disciplinary.

P
age 49



Page 16 of 24

6. Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme
6.1 The Standards require that: The chief audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance and 

improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. A Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) has been prepared to meet this requirement.  The Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service’s QAIP was agreed by the Finance & Audit Committee in February 2019. 

6.2 The arrangements set out in the QAIP have been implemented with the collection and monitoring of 
performance data largely automated through the team’s time recording and quality management 
processes. It should be noted that the results recorded below have not been subjected to independent 
data quality verification. 

6.3 In line with the QAIP, the team monitor performance against a suite of 24 performance indicators based 
on the balanced scorecard, covering the four perspectives; financial, internal process, learning & growth 
and customer. The table below sets out the performance targets, which are grouped into measures for 
the service and those that are specific to the individual authority. Targets have been set for 17 of the 24 
indicators, however it should be noted that these are for full year outturns; as such outturns at present 
are not to target levels but are provided for Members information.  

Ref Indicator Target Frequency

Non LA Specific Performance Measurements 

Cost of the Audit & Counter Fraud Service 
a) Total Cost £594,605 (Budgeted Costs)

PM1

b) LA Share

N/A

£214,058
PM2 Cost per A&CF day £400 £329

Proportion of staff with relevant professional 
qualification:
a) Relevant audit qualification 21%

PM3

b) Relevant counter fraud qualification

75%

50%
PM4 Proportion of non-qualified staff undertaking 

professional qualification training  
25% 7%

PM5 Time spent on CPD/non-professional 
qualification training, learning & 
development

70 days 13 Days

PM6 Compliance with PSIAS 100% The External Quality Assessment 
(EQA) conducted in February 2018 
was positive with performance in 
line with or above that of other local 
authorities as per benchmarking; 
however, it did not provide a 
percentage of compliance.
Our January 2019 self- assessment 
showed full compliance with 94% of 
the standards, partial compliance 
with a further 4% and work required 
to address the remaining 2%. 
We are working to address the areas 
that require improvement.

PM7 Staff turnover N/A N/A

LA Specific Performance Measurements 

Page 50



Page 17 of 24

Ref Indicator Target Frequency

PM8 Average cost per assurance review £5,000  £3,793
PM9 Proportion of available resources spent on 

chargeable work 
90% 78%

Proportion of chargeable time spent on:
a) assurance work 65%

PM10

b) consultancy work

N/A

1%
Proportion of chargeable time spent on: 
a) proactive counter fraud work 23%

PM11

b) reactive counter fraud work

N/A

11%
PM12 Proportion of chargeable time spent on 

SPOC associated duties
N/A 12 Days

Proportion of agreed assurance assignments:
a) Delivered 5%

PM13

b) Underway

95%

29%
PM14 Proportion of completed reviews subject to 

a second stage (senior management) quality 
control check in addition to the primary 
quality control review

10% 0%

PM15 Proportion of recommended actions agreed 
by client management

90% 100%

Number of recommendations agreed that 
are:
a) not yet due 14
b) Implemented 16

PM16

c) Outstanding

N/A

12
PM17 Proportion of recommended actions 

implemented by agreed date
N/A 57%

PM18 Number of referrals received N/A 27
PM19 Number of investigations closed N/A 40

Value of fraud losses identified: 

a) cashable (losses that can be recovered) £29,264

b) non-cashable (notional savings based on 
national estimates)

£97,000

PM20

c) Prevented Losses (Savings associated 
with blocked applications)

N/A

£0

PM21 Customer satisfaction with individual 
review/assignment

95% 100%

PM22 Customer satisfaction with overall service 95% A wider satisfaction survey was last 
completed in March 2019 and was 
positive. Due to the Covid 19 
pandemic, it has not been possible 
to conduct a review this year to 
date.

PM23 Member satisfaction with assurance 
provided (based on Chair of Audit 
Committee contribution to Appraisal of the 
Head of Audit & Counter Fraud role

Positive The Chair of the Audit Committee 
will be invited to contribute to the 
HIACF’s mid-year performance 
review, which is currently scheduled 
for 24 September.

PM24 Statement of external audit Positive External Audit report by exception. 
At the time of writing this report, no 
concerns had been raised with the 

Page 51



Page 18 of 24

Ref Indicator Target Frequency

Head of Internal Audit and Counter 
Fraud by Grant Thornton.

7. Review of Audit & Counter Fraud Plan
7.1 Monitoring of the delivery of planned work is built into the team’s processes with individual officer time 

recording data feeding into an automated performance monitoring workbook; this tracks the 
performance of the team against the shared service work-plan as a whole and enables the supervisory 
staff to plan and support officers to deliver their individual work plans. On at least a quarterly basis, a 
projection of the resources that will be available to the year-end is carried out and compared to 
forecasts for each item of work on the plan to be completed. 

7.2 At this time there is no change to the projected resources that were used to inform the revised 2020-21 
plan. We continue to monitor the resource budget on a monthly basis to ensure that we are responsive 
to changes as soon as possible. 

8. Follow up of agreed recommendations
8.1 Where the work of the team finds opportunities to strengthen the council’s risk management, 

governance and/or control arrangements, the team make and agree recommendations for 
improvement with service managers. The Standards require that a follow-up process is established: to 
monitor and ensure that management actions have been effectively implemented or that senior 
management has accepted the risk of not taking action. As with all audit work, resources should be 
prioritised based on risk. 

8.2 Service managers are asked to provide an update on action taken towards implementing all 
recommendations due on a monthly basis and are also asked to supply evidence to confirm that action 
has been taken in respect of all High priority recommendations, which is verfiied by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team.  

8.3 The first of the two tables below details the current position in relation to the follow up process and the 
second details recommendations that are now more than six months over their planned implementation 
date; along with an update from the relevant Service Manager/Assistant Director/Director.

Page 52



Page 19 of 24

Status of Agreed Recommendations

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management

Number of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive 

management response has been received
Housing Allocations 
(Counter Fraud 
review)

Opinion: Amber.
Seven recommendations agreed: three high and four medium priority.
Recommendations relate to reviewing and, where appropriate, updating the current 
Allocations policy, refresher training in respect of document verification, applicants supplying 
original identification and supporting evidence in respect of all applications, application forms 
and supporting documents being retained in all cases, the introduction of a formal process for 
all direct let authorisations, an annual review of the housing waiting list and annual  
declarations of interest being completed by all allocations staff.

Seven recommendations due, five 
implemented. 
Two high priority outstanding relating to 
reviewing and, where appropriate, updating 
the current Allocations policy and an annual 
review of the housing waiting list.

Homelessness Opinion: Red. 
Four recommendations agreed: three high and one medium priority.  
Recommendations relate to the website being updated in line with the Homelessness 
Reduction Act, and the rebadging, implementation and publication of the Homelessness 
Prevention Strategy, as in line with the Rough Sleeping Strategy delivery plan, the creation of 
procedure notes to support the new requirements of the act, and looking at prevention 
measures and longer term accommodation options, in order to make better use of the 
temporary accommodation budget, and help prevent homelessness.

Four recommendations due, three 
implemented.
One high priority outstanding relating 
looking at prevention measures and longer 
term accommodation options.

Use of Enforcement 
Services

Opinion: Amber. 
Three recommendations agreed: one high, one medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to the council’s Corporate Fair Debt Policy being circulated to all 
relevant staff, the council’s procedures and policy in respect of vulnerable debtors being 
reviewed and shared with the  Enforcement Agents, Debt Collection Agents and Sheriffs used, 
and appropriate agreements being put in place for all enforcement services, including expected 
performance arrangements then being put in place for performance to be monitored in line 
with the agreement, including documenting any meetings held.

Three recommendations due, two 
implemented. 
One high priority outstanding relating to 
appropriate agreements being put in place 
for all enforcement services, including 
expected performance arrangements then 
being put in place for performance to be 
monitored in line with the agreement, 
including documenting any meetings held.

Ethics Opinion: Amber. 
Five recommendations agreed: two medium and three low priority. 
Recommendations relate to establishing a clear and consistent definition of what ethical values 
the council holds and expects its employees to work by, incorporating these ethical values into 
the recruitment, induction and appraisal processes, reviewing reporting arrangements outlined 
within the Anti-Fraud & Corruption Strategy and introducing arrangements to identify and 
collate reports of unethical behaviour received via the various council policies.

Five recommendations due, four 
implemented. 
One low priority outstanding relating to 
reviewing reporting arrangements outlined 
within the Anti-Fraud & Corruption Strategy.

P
age 53



Page 20 of 24

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management

Number of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive 

management response has been received
Refunds Opinion: Amber. 

Nine recommendations agreed: three high, five medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to a review of the Corporate Refunds Procedure, implementation of 
procedure notes for individual departments, a review of information provided in respect of 
refunds on the council’s website, checks being made by Council Tax / NNDR with all relevant 
departments to identify other outstanding debts, investigations into enabling easy 
identification of card refunds, access rights within the Revenues & Benefits system being 
reviewed, provision made for customer services team leaders to be added to the authorised 
signatory list, all refunds being approved by an appropriately authorised officer, investigations 
being undertaken in relation to implementation of digital refund procedures for all services and 
the Charge-back policy being reviewed and re-circulated to relevant staff.

Nine recommendations due, eight 
implemented. 
One high priority outstanding relating to 
investigations into enabling easy 
identification of card refunds.

Housing Rent 
Collection & 
Administration 

Opinion: Amber.
Two recommendations agreed: one high and one medium priority.
Recommendations relate to making further checks to ensure service charges are correct on 
entry and for a procedure for checking staff who have access to Capita are reconciled at least 
annually with the relevant Service Manager.

Two recommendation due, one 
implemented.
One high priority outstanding relating to 
making further checks to ensure service 
charges are correct on entry.

Business Continuity 
– IT Backup 
Arrangements

Opinion: Amber.
Two high priority recommendations agreed.  
Recommendations relate to the introduction of a test schedule to comply with requirement of 
the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the IT Disaster Recovery Plan being updated and reviewed 
in line with the overarching Business Continuity Plan.

Two recommendation due, one 
implemented.
One high priority outstanding relating to the 
introduction of a test schedule to comply 
with requirement of the Civil Contingencies 
Act 2004.

Staff Sickness 
Management & 
Monitoring 

Opinion: Amber.
Five recommendations agreed: three high and two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to staff being reminded of the requirements for reporting sickness, a 
review of the distribution lists and operational setup for the sickness line, supporting 
information being made easily available to line managers, and support being provided to 
departments with the highest level of sickness absences.

Five recommendations due, four 
implemented.
One high priority outstanding relating to 
supporting information being made easily 
available to line managers.

Tenancy 
Enforcement

Opinion: Amber.
Three high priority recommendations agreed.  
Recommendations relate to the introduction of procedure guidance for staff, directly relating 
to tenancy enforcement, to ensure consistency of action and that accurate records are 
maintained; reviewing training available for Housing Officers; and, ensuring tenancies are 

Three recommendations due, one 
implemented. 
Two high priority outstanding relating to the 
introduction of procedure guidance for staff, 
directly relating to tenancy enforcement, to 
ensure consistency of action and that 

P
age 54



Page 21 of 24

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management

Number of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive 

management response has been received
ended promptly on the housing management system and a consistent approach is followed 
when transferring tenancies, with approval for any significant overlaps. 

accurate records are maintained and 
reviewing training available for Housing 
Officers.

Unauthorised 
Encampments

Opinion: Amber. 
Two medium priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to the provision of diversity based training to officers and 
implementing procedures to archive/delete data they no longer require.

No recommendations due before 31 August 
2020.

Asset Management Opinion: Green. 
One high priority recommendation agreed.
Recommendation relates to reviewing the terms of reference of the asset management 
working group and improving accuracy of non-financial details of the asset register.

No recommendations due before 31 August 
2020.

Sheltered Housing Opinion: Amber. 
Four medium priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to identification and provision of training, reviewing information on 
the Council website, conducting periodic risk assessment for tenants, and improving consistent 
recording of H&S inspection records.

Four recommendations due, three 
implemented. 
One medium priority outstanding relating to 
reviewing information on the Council 
website. 

Insurances Opinion Green. 
Two recommendations agreed: one medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to authorisation of the insurance policy and amendment to the 
council website to enable receipt of reports of insurance fraud.

Two recommendations due, two 
implemented. 

Responsive Repairs Opinion: Green. 
Two low priority recommendations agreed. 
Recommendations relate to a reminder of the process to record unsuccessful visits and 
identification of and taking action to correct variances in the repair recharge records.

No recommendations due before 31 August 
2020.

Governance 
Framework

Opinion: Amber. 
Two medium priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to investigating the formation of a councilwide action tracker and 
reviewing all policies and strategies held on the GBC website and intranet to ensure the most 
up to date versions have been published.

No recommendations due before 31 August 
2020.

Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & Overtime

Opinion: Amber. 
Four high priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to creating a central flexi / TOIL guidance document and circulating 
this to staff, reminding line managers of their role in checking time recording sheets on a 

No recommendations due before 31 August 
2020.

P
age 55



Page 22 of 24

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management

Number of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive 

management response has been received
regular basis to ensure there are no contraventions to the guidance, the creation of a local 
policy on overtime based around the guidance in the Green Book and any council additions to 
this, and service managers being reminded of this guidance.

Apprenticeship 
Scheme

Opinion: Amber. 
Five recommendations agreed: two high, two medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to a strategy being produced to document the aims and objectives of 
the council’s  apprenticeship scheme and how these will be achieved; a process being put in 
place to ensure that apprenticeships are promoted and considered at the earliest stage of 
recruitment; the Apprenticeship Policy being reviewed and updated, arrangements being put in 
place for the apprenticeship spreadsheet to be monitored and updated regularly, and 
arrangements being made for checks to be undertaken of all payments to and from the 
Apprenticeship Service Account to ensure accuracy.

No recommendations due before 31 August 
2020.

P
age 56



Page 23 of 24

Recommendations still outstanding more than six months after scheduled implementation date

Directorate Audit & 
Counter Fraud 

Review title

Recommendation Priority Planned 
Implementation 

Date

Management Update

Housing & 
Operations

Homelessness A scheme working with private landlords 
& organisations should be put in place, 
along with looking for longer term 
accommodation options, in order to 
make  better use of the temporary 
accommodation budget, and to help 
prevent homelessness.

High 31 December 
2019

The ongoing pressure on the team as a result of 
Covid-19 has had an impact on this piece of work 
although details of neighbouring borough incentive 
schemes have been collated and reviewed. The 
intention is to work with the new Service Manager 
to draft a policy that will be presented to 
management Team by the end of this calendar 
year.

Corporate 
Services

Use of 
Enforcement 
Services

Appropriate agreements should be put in 
place for all enforcement services, 
including expected performance. 
Arrangements should then be put in place 
for performance to be monitored in line 
with the agreement, including 
documenting any meetings held.

High 31 December 
2019

The procurement activity has had to be postponed 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic situation and the 
need for the council to focus on delivery of critical 
services and its part in the national response.  A 
revised timescale will need to be agreed for this, 
proposed as 31 March 2021.

Housing & 
Operations

Housing Rent 
Collection & 
Administration

Procedures should be put into place to 
ensure service charges entered are 
correct and measures should be taken to 
ensure these charges are tested to ensure 
tenants are not under or overcharged

High 29 February 
2020

A draft Management Team (MT) report has been 
created and is in the process of being finalised in 
conjunction with the finance team. The report will 
be submitted to MT this month (October 2020) .

Communitites Staff Sickness 
Management & 
Monitoring

Guidance information and templates 
should be made available and easily 
accessible for line managers to support 
the procedures for absence triggers 
within the policy.

High 29 February 
2020

Although outstanding as at 31 August, 
recommendation has now been implemented. 
Guidance flowcharts are now on the intranet to 
support managers when an employee hits a 
sickness trigger along with the informal stage 
template letter and instruction to contact HR if 
things are to progress to further stages. This 
ensures formal meetings do not go ahead without 
managers seeking HR advice first, reducing the 
risk of errors that could result in the process 
having to restart.

P
age 57



Appendix A

Page 24 of 24

Definitions of audit opinions & Recommendation 
Priorities

Green – Risk 
management operates 
effectively and 
objectives are being 
met 

Expected controls are in place and effective to ensure risks are well 
managed and the service objectives are being met. Any errors 
found are minor or the occurrence of errors is considered to be 
isolated. Recommendations made are considered to be 
opportunities to enhance existing arrangements.

Amber – Key risks are 
being managed to 
enable the key 
objectives to be met 

Expected key or compensating controls are in place and generally 
complied with ensuring significant risks are adequately managed 
and the service area meets its key objectives. Instances of failure 
to comply with controls or errors / omissions have been identified. 
Improvements to the control process or compliance with controls 
have been identified and recommendations have been made to 
improve this.

Red – Risk management 
arrangements require 
improvement to ensure 
objectives can be met 

The overall control process is weak with one or more expected key 
control(s) or compensating control(s) absent or there is evidence 
of significant non-compliance.  Risk management is not considered 
to be effective and the service risks failing to meet its objectives, 
significant loss/error, fraud/impropriety or damage to reputation.  
Recommendations have been made to introduce new controls, 
improve compliance with existing controls or improve the 
efficiency of operations.

High The findings indicate a fundamental weakness in control that leaves the 
council exposed to significant risk. The recommended action addresses 
the weakness identified; to mitigate the risk exposure and enable the 
achievement of key objectives. Management should address the 
recommendation as a matter of urgency. 

Medium The findings indicate a weakness in control, or lack of compliance with 
existing controls, that leaves the system open to risk, although it is not 
critical to the achievement of objectives. Management should address the 
recommendation within a reasonable timeframe.

Low The findings have identified an opportunity to enhance the efficiency or 
effectiveness of the system/control environment. Management should 
address the recommendation as resources allow. 

Page 58



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 07 September 2020 / 13 October 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 
2020/21 – Quarter One 

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2020/21, including projected variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, or Financial 
Statements.

Recommendations:

1. This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the Council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
Council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2020/21 financial year for 
the first quarter to 30th June 2020, as well as updating Members on other key areas of 
financial performance.

1.2. The Council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s finances.  In 
addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring 
reports, these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to Management 
Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring all recruitment activity to be considered and approved by Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy, as set 
out in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 59 Agenda Item 7



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Revenue

2.1. At the end of Quarter One, there is a projected overspend for the year of £3,359,890. 
Movements affecting the forecast position against the original budget for the year are 
largely attributable to reduced income projections arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.

2.2. The council ended 2019/20 in a favourable position, enabling budgets totalling £85,800 
to be approved for carry forward into 2020/21.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end is projected to be £7.86m, constituted of the 
minimum working balances of £2.0m, the General Fund reserve of £3.25m and usable 
Working Balances of £2.61m.

2.4. Movements in the year are projected to result in a net decrease in reserves of £0.67m, 
with the level of reserves being £11.91m at start of year, and projected to be £11.24m at 
year- end.

2.5. Significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position continue to come from the lack 
of clarity regarding the long-term future of local government funding, and more recently, 
the financial consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic.

2.6. Capital

2.7. The revised General Fund Capital Programme budget is £19.37m, including £6.95m to 
support furtherance of the council’s land and commercial property portfolio and £4.7m 
for developing Land at Dering Way.  Actual spend for Quarter One was £1.38m. 

3. REVENUE

3.1. Budget 2020/21

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2020/21 was £11,543,950, funded by a 
combination of retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, and Council Tax.  It 
also enabled a contribution of £270,100 to be made to Usable Working Balances, in 
accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

3.1.2. The table below sets out the current assessment of performance against the Original 
Budget by Directorate, based on known and projected variances as at 30 June 2020. 

Page 60



3

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2020/21 (£)

Forecast 
2020/21 (£)

Variation 
2020/21 (£)

Chief Executive 26,810 26,810 0
Communities 3,509,280 5,586,140 2,076,860
Corporate Services 2,978,780 3,778,780 800,000
Housing & Operations 3,680,230 3,746,740 66,510
Planning & Development 1,850,240 1,985,460 135,220
Items Carried Forward from 2019-20 0 85,800 85,800
Non-Directorate Specific 850,200 850,200 0
Interest and Investment Income (850,000) (654,500) 195,500
Government Grant Funding (1,267,930) (1,267,930) 0
Transfers to/ (from) reserves (515,180) (360,180) 155,000
Transfers to/ (from) balances 603,010 603,010 0
Transactions below the line 678,510 523,510 (155,000)
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 11,543,950 14,903,840 3,359,890

Business Rates Income (3,698,510) (3,698,510) 0
Council Tax Income (7,144,320) (7,144,320) 0
Parish Precepts (368,210) (368,210) 0
New Homes Bonus (603,010) (603,010) 0
Transfers to Working Balances 270,100 270,100 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 3,359,890 3,359,890

Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading

3.2. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE

3.2.1 There are no significant variances to report.

3.3. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE –  £2,077k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Leisure Services Income: £149k adverse variance – the Council has considered 
financial support to Gravesham Community Leisure Limited who manage Cascades and 
Cygnet Leisure Centres within the borough, in the light of the centres’ enforced closure 
resulting from government actions to combat Covid-19. Resultantly, fees payable for 
quarters one and two of 2020/21 have been waived with the effect of reduced income of 
£149k.

3.3.2. Woodville & Market income: £443k adverse variance – due the outbreak of the 
Covid-19 pandemic and government measures designed to combat the spread of the 
virus, both The Woodville and Borough Market ceased operations immediately in March 
2020.  Following the partial lifting of restrictions, the Market reopened in early June, with 
a Woodville cinema offering commencing in early July (although the Theatre itself 
remains closed, and is not expected to reopen until later in 2020/21). Financial 
projections have been undertaken to analyse the impact of reduced income at both the 
Market and Woodville, with the combined net effect projected at being £443k for the 
current financial year.

Page 61



4

3.3.3. Rental Income: £466k adverse variance – the Council’s original budget for 2020/21 
included an estimation of £4,625k for rental income, predominantly within the 
Communities directorate, and therefore an exercise has been undertaken to evaluate 
this income stream closely in the light of the Covid-19 pandemic. This has included an 
assessment of the likely impact on properties acquired under the Council’s Property 
Acquisition Programme, as well as existing sites held such as Industrial Units, and 
District Shopping Centres. 

3.3.4. For the most significant income streams and where greater information is known about 
tenants and payment habits, detailed projections have been considered. For the residual 
items held under the rental income heading, an estimate of a 25% potential income 
reduction has been applied. The net effect of both sets of calculations is a projected 
adverse variance of £466k for 2020/21.

3.3.5. Parking Income: £1,019k adverse variance – following the lockdown announcement of 
23 March in response the Covid-19 pandemic, parking charges – both on-street and 
within car parks, were suspended whilst government restrictions were in place to combat 
the spread of coronavirus. As restrictions were partially lifted, parking charges and 
enforcement were reintroduced across the borough from June, however, with no income 
being realised across the first two months of the financial year, there is adverse effect on 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan.

3.3.6. Additionally, with the proposed development of The Charter gaining momentum in 
2020/21, it is anticipated that Horn Yard and Market Square car parks will be closed 
from September 2020. Officers in Finance have been working with the Parking Services 
Manager on updated income projections to take account both of these closures, and the 
wider income reduction arising from the Covid-19 pandemic. The net effect is a 
projected adverse variance of £1,019k in 2020/21.

3.3.7. Safer Stronger Communities: Neutral variance – the Council has successfully 
secured a Crime Reduction Grant of around £35k from the Police and Crime 
Commissioner to support the Community Safety service. This comprises the upgrade of 
CCTV cameras in key locations within the town centre and other known areas of crime.

3.4      CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – £800k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.4.1 Fees & Charges: £800k adverse variance – work is ongoing across the Council’s 
finances to assess the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, particularly in relation to a 
range of fees and charges budget lines. For significant income streams, detailed 
projections have been ascertained following work between the Finance team and budget 
holders e.g. Parking, Planning, Rental Income, with variances reported within their 
respective directorates. For the residual items within fees & charges across all 
directorates, an assumption of a 25% reduction has been applied and recorded under 
Corporate Services, giving rise to the £800k adverse variance.  This assumption has 
been derived on the basis of little income expected April-June, with a staggered 
increase occurring across the rest of 2020/21. It is consistent with expectations of other 
District Councils in Kent, and will continue to be monitored throughout the year.

3.4.2 The Charter: Neutral variance – work to progress The Charter development within 
Gravesend town centre is ongoing, and resultantly, £40k has been made available from 
the NNDR Growth Fund to finance external consultancy advice relating to an 
independent review of the proposed scheme.

 

 

Page 62



5

3.5     HOUSING & OPERATIONS DIRECTORATE  – £67k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.5.1 Garden Waste Collection Service: £37k favourable variance – the garden waste 
subscription service continues to expand in 2020/21.  This additional volume of around 
1,600 new customers since April 2020, in conjunction with a review of the existing 
charging structure from the same date, has led to additional net income of £37k 
compared to the original budget.

3.5.2 Waste Recycling Income: £15k favourable variance – income received from recycling 
credits has been higher than budgeted due to an increase in recyclable waste in the first 
quarter of the year.

3.5.3 Increased fuel costs: £20k adverse variance – following the recent expansion of the 
Brookvale Depot fleet of vehicles, combined with additional domestic collection and fly-
tipping recovery journeys as an indirect consequence of lockdown measures associated 
with the Covid-19 pandemic, there is projected additional fuel expenditure of £20k in 
2020/21.

3.5.4 Trade Waste Collections: £99k adverse variance – as a result of government 
restrictions following the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic, many local businesses 
were required to close temporarily, and thus no longer required the Council’s trade 
waste collection services. Although many have now re-opened, some are running at 
reduced capacity compared to pre-lockdown, with others closed permanently. There is 
therefore a reduced demand for waste collection services, which gives rise to the 
projected income deficit of £99k for 2020/21.

3.6     PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DIRECTORATE –  £135k ADVERSE  VARIANCE

3.6.1 Planning Application Income: £103k adverse variance – the volume of planning 
applications since lockdown was announced on 23 March has decreased by 20-25%. 
This is at both a national and local level, and has occurred due to the restrictions in 
place delaying applications and works that were previously envisaged. Although it is 
hoped that volumes will increase during the rest of the year, an overall income reduction 
of 25% is currently expected, resulting in an adverse projected variance of £103k for 
2020/21.

3.6.2 South Thames Gateway Building Control Partnership: £32k adverse variance – in 
a similar fashion to the variance described above, Building Control activity has been 
substantially affected by lockdown restrictions arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.  The 
Partnership as a whole is currently forecasting an income deficit for 2020/21 of £512k, of 
which the Gravesham share would be £77k. This represents an additional £32k over 
and above the originally budgeted contribution payable from the Council to the 
Partnership of £45k.

3.6.3 Street-Lighting: Neutral variance – reserve funding of £50k each from the NNDR 
Growth Fund, and revenue grants not yet applied has been made available to facilitate 
the conversion, where possible, of Council-owned street and amenity lighting to LED 
lighting, as well providing for maintaining and fixing existing assets.

3.6.4 Bus interchange at Rathmore Road: Neutral variance – reserve funding of £15k as 
been made available as a contribution to a Kent County Council-led project to implement 
a new bus hub to improve the transport interchange between bus and rail in Gravesend 
town centre at Barrock Row.

Page 63



6

3.7 ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2019/20 – £86k

3.7.1 The following items from 2019/20 have been approved for carry forward to 2019/20 by 
the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team:

 
Summary of General Fund Revenue 2019/20 year-end carry forward requests
Directorate Service Amount Reason for carry-forward request into 2020/21
Communities Community Engagement £7,610 Unspent MOD grant to be rolled forward. The MOD have agreed that this 

money can be carried forward and used against an appropriate project next 
year.

Communities Community Involvement £12,640 Unspent Community Involvement budget to be used to bolster activities and 
events in the new year due to the cancellation of a number of activities in 
2019/20. 

Communities The Woodville £15,000 Unspent Woodville budget to be rolled forward to cover the cost of new 
lighting in the Kent Room and Bar.

Communities Arts Development & Cultural 
Events

£6,000 Grant associated with The Arts Council Service Level Agreement. 
Outstanding information delayed due to organisational restructure. Funds will 
be re-aligned in the 2020/21 Service Level Agreement.

Communities Arts Projects £3,450 Income received from ticket sales of the annual Outdoor Theatre held at 
Nurstead Court. The funds raised from the previous years performance will 
be used to cover 2020/21 production costs.

Communities Licensing £6,200 Budget needed to fund the cost of new tablets for the  Licensing Team, this 
has been delayed due to COVID-19.

Communities Major Outdoor Events £17,690 Social Values income received in 2019/20 which has not been allocated to 
events.  This will now be spent in 2020/21.

Corporate Services Corporate Management 
Expenses

£13,710 Budget to be rolled forward to pay for the solicitors cost for the sale of Lord 
Street car park.

Housing & Operations Burials Admin £3,500 Safety equipment required for grave excavation which is a legal requirement, 
the delivery of this equipment was delayed due to COVID-19.

Total carry-forward requests £85,800

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2019/20

3.8     INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME – £195k ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.8.1 The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the world’s economy.  In the 
UK, the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) made two emergency cuts to the Bank of 
England Base rate, reducing it firstly from 0.75% to 0.25% and then further to 0.10%.  
The value of equity markets have fallen to record lows and property rental income 
streams have become uncertain as business no longer need.  

3.8.2 The Council generates investment income through dividends from Property Funds and 
Multi Asset funds as well as interest earnt from investing the remaining cash balances in 
Fixed Term deposits, Call accounts and Money Market Funds.  

3.8.3 The dividend from Property Funds is forecast to be down around £67k on initial 
forecasts.  Whilst Property Fund Managers are working closely with all their tenants to 
secure the rental income, a reduction in dividend income is expected as some 
companies will not being able to fully meet their rental obligations, void properties may 
not be able to re-let as quickly as they might previously have been and additional legal 
costs being incurred to renegotiate tenancies. 

3.8.4 The income from Multi Asset Funds is expected to be reduced by some £50k for a 
number of reasons including some companies holding off paying shareholders dividends 
and investments not returning the expected level of interest due to the reduction in the 
Bank of England base rate.

3.8.5 For internally invested cash balances, the reduction in the Bank of England’s Base Rate, 
will result in a forecast loss of investment income of around £78k.  

Page 64



7

3.9 FUNDING STREAMS – NEUTRAL VARIANCE

3.9.1 Transfers to/(from) reserves & Transactions below the line: net neutral variance – 
under accounting arrangements the corresponding entries relating to reserve-funded 
expenditure within services (the drawdown from the reserve and the transfer into the 
specific service) are shown here. The total of £155k relates to projected reserve funded 
items as described within individual Corporate Services, and Planning & Development 
Directorate sections above.

3.10 WORKING BALANCES AND RESERVES

3.10.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect 
upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2019/20 10,350,750 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 603,010 
Budgeted contribution to Working Balances 270,100 
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2019/20) (3,359,890)
Forecast Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2020) including 
Minimum GF Working Balance 7,863,970 
Less: Minimum GF balance (2,000,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (3,250,000)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2020) 2,613,970 

Working Balances £

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

Page 65



8

3.10.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
final movements on these specific reserves during the year.

Opening Forecast Forecast Forecast
General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2020 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2021
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 369 (280) 50 139 
Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,320 (464) 100 956 

 Spend to Save Reserve 160 (162) 2 --  
Leisure Centres Reserve 1,649 (189) 359 1,819 
Corporate Priorities Reserve 250 --  --  250 
Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 111 (24) 12 99 

 Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) 
Reserve 

25 (25) --  --  
Elections Reserve 74 --  --  74 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 500 --  --  500 
IT Infrastructure Reserve 340 (330) 75 85 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 102 (105) 105 102 
 Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,002 (400) 231 833 
NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 588 (110) 239 717 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150 (100) --  50 
Woodville Repairs Reserve 227 --  58 285 
Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 --  --  500 
Housing & Commerical Growth Fund 700 --  --  700 
St George's Income Protection Reserve 948 --  --  948 

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 483 --  210 693 
 Service Review Reserve 241 (158) --  83 
 Playgrounds Reserve 117 (55) --  62 
Decriminalisation Reserve 185 (285) 100 --  
Enterprise Reserve --  (349) 500 151 
Climate Change Reserve --  --  500 500 
Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 10,041 (3,036) 2,541 9,546 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 1,865 (175) --  1,690 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 11,906 (3,211) 2,541 11,236 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

3.10.3 New approved uses of reserves are already referred to within individual directorates – 
see sections 3.4.2, 3.6.3 and 3.6.4.

3.10.4 Other reserve movements are forecast as per the original budget and will be updated 
once further expenditure plans/drawdowns are established.

Page 66



9

3.11     MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING

3.11.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to 
take into account longer-term assumptions around cost pressures and central 
government  funding announcements, together with building in all known variances to 
the Council’s budget as a result of Management Team and Cabinet decisions.  The 
latest version of the Medium Term Financial Plan is attached to this report at Appendix 
Two.

3.11.2 The financial environment within which the Council operates continues to remain 
challenging and with significant uncertainty in 2020/21.  The anticipated comprehensive 
review of Local Government Finance pending the outcomes of the Fair Funding Review 
was originally due to take place during 2020/21. This has since been postponed until 
after April 2021 given the current Covid-19 pandemic.

3.11.3 The Covid-19 pandemic is also affecting the Council’s financial outlook in 2020/21.  
Although this commenced in March 2020, there was limited impact in terms of year-end 
accounting and reporting for 2019/20, with the major effect being increased debt 
impairment provisions set aside.

3.11.4 However, as already described within several sections of this report, it is anticipated that 
during the current financial year, the Council will see significant reductions of income, for 
example in the following areas:

 Rental income payments from tenants within commercial and investment properties 
 Fees charges – for example car parking income and receipts at The Woodville
 Investment income from Property and Multi-Asset Funds
 Council Tax and Business Rates 

3.11.5 As of writing, the Council has received around £1.3m funding from Central Government 
in order to assist with the response to the pandemic.  This comprises of three separate 
tranches received of £53k, £1,054k and £194k respectively, and is specifically designed 
to finance direct expenditure pressures resulting from the pandemic.

3.11.6 Although providing a useful contribution, the local government sector continues to lobby 
Central Government for further support to assist with the projected income losses 
described in section 3.11.4. On which note, it was announced on 2nd July that the 
Government would be implementing a scheme whereby 75% of sales, fees and charges 
related income losses beyond 5% of budgeted income, would be reimbursed. Detailed 
technical guidance on this mechanism has yet to be received, and therefore all income 
deficits covered in this report, do not take account of this.

3.11.7 In relation to Council Tax and Business Rates, the Government is implementing a 
further scheme to assist with Covid-19 related income shortfalls. Whilst under 
conventional collection fund accounting arrangements, any deficits experienced in 
2020/21 would normally be repayable from the General Fund in the following year i.e. 
2021/22, provision has been made to spread these payments over a three year-period 
instead. This will assist both the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan and cash-flow 
arrangements over the next three years.

3.11.8 The Council has also been acting in an agency capacity, administering a whole series of 
small business grants as part of a national scheme the Government designed to help 
support local economies. As of writing, around £14.5m has been distributed to local 
businesses qualifying under this scheme, which has been enabled through a range of 
officers across the Finance and Economic Development teams.

Page 67



10

4.       GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 The following table details the position of General Fund Capital Programme as at the 
end of Quarter One.  This includes the revised original budget for 2020/21, taking into 
consideration adjustments for carried forward items as approved by the Section151 
Officer and the Council’s Management Team.

Scheme

2020/21 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/Fwd              

£

2020/21 
Actual 

Expenditure       
£

Outstanding 
Balance             

£
Essential Repairs to Buildings 898,870 143,370 (755,500)
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 14,830 0 (14,830)
Parrock St Car Park - resurfacing 11,740 26,990 15,250
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 275,830 52,820 (223,010)
Gatekeeper Replacement 50,000 0 (50,000)
New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 100,000 0 (100,000)
Waste & Horticulture back office system 108,690 0 (108,690)
Replacement Playground Programme 104,870 0 (104,870)
IT Equipment Air Conditioning Unit 40,000 0 (40,000)
Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,400,000 0 (1,400,000)
Property Acquisition Programme 3,286,980 0 (3,286,980)
Land Acquisiton Programme 3,658,810 0 (3,658,810)
Land at Dering Way 4,702,910 1,095,740 (3,607,170)
Heritage Quarter - St George's Centre 130,000 0 (130,000)
Cascades Replacement Flumes 29,440 15,440 (14,000)
Heritage Assets 388,580 0 (388,580)
Gym Equipment  Leisure Centres 386,000 0 (386,000)
Back up Generator 75,000 0 (75,000)
Parking Machines 251,200 0 (251,200)
LATCO development costs 24,110 3,410 (20,700)
LATCO working capital provision 500,000 0 (500,000)
Elizabeth Huggins Cottages 2,000,000 0 (2,000,000)
Town Centre Improvements 67,590 44,050 (23,540)
Parking Software 74,750 0 (74,750)
Purchase of Freighters 400,000 0 (400,000)
Enforcement of Private Housing 
Standards 55,000 0 (55,000)

IT Infrastructure Assets 330,000 0 (330,000)
19,365,200 1,381,820 (17,983,380)

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2020/21

 Essential Repairs to Buildings 

The following work has been completed this year:
- Refurbishment of First Floor Flats;
- The replacement of the main roof at Cascades Leisure Centre has now been 

completed.  The majority of these costs will be reimbursed via an insurance claim.

Page 68



11

- Flume repairs at Cascades Leisure Centre

On-going work to be funded from the Essential Repairs budget includes:

- LED lighting for the remainder of the council Building.  Work is now being planned to 
replace the lighting in the Flats; basement, and Foyer areas;

- Cascade Ceiling repairs.

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements – the infrastructure of both Cemeteries (such as 
litter bins) is currently being reviewed to establish the priority of improvements.

 Parrock Street Car park resurfacing – the resurfacing work has now finished, coming 
in over budget by £15,250, all invoices have now been paid.

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – The fleet replacement programme for 2020/21 is 
in place with vehicles having either been ordered or delivered.

 Gatekeeper Replacement – KCC approval has been received for Automatic Number 
Plate Recognition (ANPR) enforcement of the King Street bus gate. The legal 
agreement is currently being drafted. Once this has been done the capital spend on 
equipment can be made.

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling – due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the review of 
flats was suspended, this will be re-started later in the year. A project plan for recycling 
in flats will be produced once the review has been completed.

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – the second stage of implementation, 
focusing on trade waste, is underway and will be operational from 1st July 2020.

 Replacement Playground Programme – a 20 year replacement programme is in 
place, however any renewals for 2020/21 are currently under review due to restrictions 
arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.

 IT Equipment air conditioning unit – this is currently undergoing the final specification 
and will then be passed to Finance for tendering.

 Brookvale Office Accommodation – as a result of lockdown restrictions arising from 
the Covid-19 pandemic, there have been delays to commencement of the private 
vehicle servicing operation. This has had a corresponding delay on work to redesign the 
Brookvale depot. As Covid-19 related restrictions are lifted, attentions are now returning 
to this scheme with expenditure schedule in due course.

 Property Acquisition Programme – this activity is currently on hold given the 
pandemic situation but in the meantime the acquisition criteria for investments is being 
reviewed for member consideration.

 Land Acquisition Programme – the council continues to maintain an overview of 
strategic land sites in the borough so that, as sites come to the market, their acquisition 
can be considered as a means of delivering development and revenue generating 
opportunities for the council and the wider borough in the future.

 Land at Dering Way – as a first step, a master planning exercise of the various 
landholdings in the wider area is being undertaken.  The master planning exercise will 
seek to consider complementary uses of the adjacent land holdings to ensure that 
development in that area maximises benefits to the council and to the wider community, 

Page 69



12

taking advantage of opportunities to improve access to and provision of services, green 
space and high quality housing.  As such the project has been re-profiled within the 
Capital Programme.

 Heritage Quarter (St George’s Centre) – the works to re-enliven the mall areas of the 
St George’s Centre have now been completed.  Further works at the site have been re-
profiled within the Capital Programme, in line with the latest projected pattern of 
development.

 Cascades Replacement Flumes – the major internal and external works have now 
been completed and will be operational once the pools are fully re-open. Only minor 
follow up painting/snagging works remain, which will be completed in due course.

 Heritage Assets – capital expenditure relates to surveys and site investigations in 
support of progressing works to the council’s heritage property assets, including repairs 
to the Larkin Memorial, Higham, a conservation management plan for Gravesend 
Cemetery and maintenance of the Gravesend Blockhouse.  Preparations have been 
made for works to the river wall at St Andrew’s, which is now out to tender.  
Submissions to the National Heritage Lottery Fund have been on hold due to the Covid-
19 pandemic, but it is an aspiration to submit applications to that fund, once supporting 
information is in place.

 Gym Equipment Leisure Centres - Cascades and Cygnet Leisure Centres have both 
received brand new fitness kit, which was installed prior to the re-opening of the sites on 
25 July. In light of the Covid-19 pandemic, a decision has been made, in partnership 
with GCLL, not to replace the specialist spin bike equipment at the present time and so 
approximately £47k is left within the capital budget for future replacement, anticipated to 
take place later in 2020/21.

 Back-up Generator – tender documents to procure a back-up generator have been 
prepared.  The project manager is currently making arrangements for the tender to be 
issued.

 Parking Machines - options are currently being appraised for the replacement and 
upgrade of Pay & Display machines and recommendations will be put forward for 
decision later in the year.

 LATCO Development Costs – the work has now been completed; no further costs are 
expected.

 LATCO Working Capital Provision – funds have been set aside to facilitate 
Rosherville Limited bringing forward The Charter development scheme within 
Gravesend town centre. Now that necessary Council approvals have been put in place, 
Rosherville Limited is actively involved in negotiations with Reef (partners in the 
scheme), which will be backed by service level agreements with the Council. 

 Elizabeth Huggins Cottages – Trustees are now actively seeking external grant 
funding and tender submissions in order to take this scheme forward, and will return to 
officers in due course once pre-conditions of the Council’s loan agreement have been 
met.

 Town Centre Improvements - the capital budgeted expenditure to date has funded the 
acquisition of a MV7000 Gladiator Machine. This is now operational in the Town Centre. 
The remaining budget will be spent on the purchase of 28 Big Belly bins as itemised in 
the report to Full Council, 25 February 2020.

Page 70



13

 Parking Software – a supplier has been confirmed and an order will be placed shortly 
for supply, installation and training in accordance with the Capital Budget.

 Purchase of Freighters – two new refuse collection vehicles are currently on order and 
due to be delivered during quarter three. A replacement programme is in place to ensure 
refuse collection vehicles are replaced in a timely manner.

 Enforcement of Private Housing Standards – the planned enforcement action has 
been delayed as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. However, over the past few weeks, 
quotes for works have been obtained and the contractor is likely to start on site on 05 
October 2020. The works are estimated to be completed within 12 weeks.

 IT Infrastructure Assets - new IT Storage and Disaster Recovery hardware and 
software has just been purchased for £183k. The hardware components have been 
delivered to site, but the installation by Dell engineers was initially postponed due to the 
Covid-19 pandemic.  However, engineers are now making visits on site again and a 
project manager has been assigned to Gravesham who will be leading officers through 
the installation process.  Procurement of a new telephony platform is about to begin. 
Demonstrations will be held from all suppliers during the first weeks of August and 
identification of suitable framework agreements will follow.

4.2 Capital Resources

4.3 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital projects in      
the future:    

General Fund Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2020                 
£

Actual    
Income        
2020/21                           

£           

Anticipated 
use of 

Funding 
2020/21                                                          

£       

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2021           
£

Capital Receipts (596,280) (6,670) 602,950 0
S106 Capital Contributions (531,050) 0 67,590 (463,460)
Capital Grants unapplied (147,190) 0 0 (147,190)
Total Capital Resources (1,274,520) (6,670) 670,540 (610,650)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2020/21

Capital Grants Unapplied
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2020                 
£

Actual      
Income        
2020/21                           

£           

Anticipated 
use of 

Funding 
2020/21              

£

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2021              
£

Transport Quarter Stage 3 (2,970) 0 0 (2,970)
Localised Council Tax Support (89,220) 0 0 (89,220)
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (147,190) 0 0 (147,190)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2020/21

Page 71



4.4 The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions General 
Fund          £

HRA               
£

Third Party 
Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 
Income 
2020/21                  

£

Purpose of S106

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,590) 0 0 (2,590)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (17,000) 0 0 (17,000) Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000.
Whitehill Road   0 0 (1,000) (1,000) Highways contribution

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0 0 (150,000)
To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 
and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (259,460) (259,460)
A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 
experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Dover Road - Open space (50,000) (50,000)

For use by Gravesend Council leisure for Springhead Recreation Ground pitch 
improvements at Dover Road Development,  Includes levelling works to make 
'pitch' 2  more usable to accommodate junior markings and potential 5V5 pitch.

Total S106 Contributions (531,050) 0 (81,000) (612,050)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2020/21

P
age 72



5 TREASURY MANAGEMENT

5.1 The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management, which sets out the principles and 
guidelines to be followed in borrowing and investment operations undertaken by Local 
Authorities.  On 25 February, Full Council approved the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2020-21, based on the Code.  The authority’s Annual Investment Strategy 
is incorporated in the TMSS and outlines the authority’s investment priorities as being:

 Security of Capital

 Liquidity

 Yield

5.2 An update on Treasury Management performance is provided to Members through 
budget monitoring reports, with more detailed reporting of treasury management activity 
to the Finance & Audit Committee every six months. A full list of internally managed 
investments held by the Council at 30 June 2020 can be found at Appendix Three of this 
report.

5.3 The Council currently pursues a variety of investment opportunities within its Treasury 
Management strategy which prior to Covid-19 were generating the following returns: 
a) Around £10m is invested in Externally Managed Property Funds generating returns 

in the region of 3-5% 
b) A further £10m is invested in three Multi-Asset funds generating returns of around 3-

4%.
c) Remaining cash balances are generally invested in short-term deposits and 

overnight money market funds currently generating returns of around 0.67%.
d) A total of £22.9m has been expended purchasing Investment Properties (including 

acquisitions and external professional support) from which initial yields have typically 
been upwards of 6%.

5.4 Due to the current economic climate, investment returns have reduced but are being 
carefully monitored by Officers within Finance, who are in regular contract with the 
External Fund Managers.

5.5 The following summary of Key economic developments within this reporting period has 
been provided by Link Asset Services, the authority’s Treasury Management.

5.6 UK – Economic growth in 2020 started with optimistic business surveys pointing to 
growth after the ending of political uncertainty following the general election result in 
December that settled the Brexit issue.  Since then, the whole world has changed 
because of the coronavirus outbreak. The overall growth rate in quarter 1 was -2.2%.  
However, the main fall in growth did not occur until April when it came in at -24.5% year 
on year after the closedown of whole sections of the economy.  What is uncertain, 
however, is the extent of the damage that will have been done to businesses by the end 
of the lockdown period, how consumer confidence and behaviour may be impacted 
afterwards, whether there could be a second wave of the outbreak, how soon a vaccine 
will be created and then how quickly it can be administered to the population. This 

Page 73



16

leaves huge uncertainties as to how quickly the economy will recover to what was 
formerly regarded as normality. However, some changes during lockdown are likely to 
be long lasting e.g. a shift to online purchasing, working from home, etc. The lockdown 
has also had a sharp effect in depressing expenditure by consumers which means their 
level of savings have increased and debt has fallen. This could provide fuel for a 
potential surge in consumer expenditure once some degree of normality returns.

5.7 Although the UK left the EU on 31 January 2020, we still have much uncertainty as to 
whether there will be a reasonable trade deal achieved by the end of 2020. At the end of 
June, the UK government rejected extending the transition period beyond 31 December 
2020. This has increased the chances of a no-deal Brexit.  However, the most likely 
outcome is expected to be a slim deal on trade in order to minimise as much disruption 
as possible. However, uncertainty is likely to prevail until the deadline date which will act 
as a drag on recovery

5.8 After the Monetary Policy Committee left Bank Rate unchanged at 0.75% in January 
2020, but the onset of the coronavirus epidemic in March forced it into making two 
emergency cuts in Bank Rate first to 0.25% and then to 0.10%. These cuts were 
accompanied by an increase in quantitative easing (QE).  In June, the MPC decided to 
add further QE purchases of gilts, but to be implemented over an extended period to the 
end of the year. The total stock of QE purchases will then amount to £745bn. It is not 
currently thought likely that the MPC would go as far as to cut Bank Rate into negative 
territory, although the Governor of the Bank of England has said all policy measures will 
be considered. The Governor also recently commented about an eventual tightening in 
monetary policy – namely that he favours unwinding QE before raising interest rates. 
Some forecasters think this could be as far away as five years.

5.9 The Government and the Bank were also very concerned to stop people losing their jobs 
during this lockdown period. Accordingly, the Government introduced various schemes 
to subsidise both employed and self-employed jobs and put in place a raft of other 
measures to help businesses access loans from their banks, (with the Government 
providing guarantees to the banks against losses), to tide them over the lockdown period 
when some firms may have little or no income. The Bank of England expects the 
unemployment rate to double to 8%.

5.10 The Government measures to support jobs and businesses will result in a huge increase 
in the annual budget deficit for the current year, from about 2% to nearly 17%.  The ratio 
of debt to GDP is also likely to increase from 80% to around 105%. In the Budget in 
March, the Government also announced a large increase in spending on infrastructure; 
this will also help the economy to recover once the lockdown is ended.  Economic 
statistics during June were giving a preliminary indication that the economy was 
recovering faster than previously expected. However, it may be a considerable time 
before economic activity recovers fully to its previous level.

5.11 Inflation. The annual inflation rate dropped to 0.5% in May from 0.8% in April and could 
reach zero by the end of the year.  Inflation rising over 2% is unlikely to be an issue for 
the MPC over the next two years as the world economy will be heading into a recession. 
Other UK domestic prices will also be under downward pressure; wage inflation was 

Page 74



17

already on a downward path over the last half year and is likely to continue that trend in 
the current environment where unemployment will be rising significantly. In May’s 
Monetary Policy Report, the Bank of England predicted that inflation would hit their 2% 
target by 2022. This was in the context of its forecast that GDP would rise by 3% in 2022 
after a recovery during 2021. While inflation could even turn negative in the Eurozone, 
this is currently not likely in the UK.

The background papers to this report are held within the Accountancy Section

Page 75



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 June 
against the original budget set for the 2020/21 financial year, and assess full year 
projections to 31 March 2021. It also illustrates how the projected position affects 
the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 76

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


19

Climate Change No direct impllications.

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



MTFP V2 - BMR Q1 Appendix 2

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE

Employees

Salaries (Gross) 11,293,410 11,293,660 11,533,120 11,791,250 12,085,070 12,386,150 12,694,790 13,011,100 13,335,300 13,667,580 14,009,270 

Vacancy allowance (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Salaries (Net) 10,943,410 10,943,660 11,183,120 11,441,250 11,735,070 12,036,150 12,344,790 12,661,100 12,985,300 13,317,580 13,659,270 

Temporary Staff 375,010 375,010 384,380 393,980 403,830 413,930 424,280 434,890 445,760 456,910 468,330 

Wages 96,960 66,960 99,660 102,430 245,270 108,180 111,180 114,250 257,390 120,610 123,630 

Pension and National Insurance Contributions 2,968,400 2,968,450 3,031,090 3,098,310 3,175,510 3,254,630 3,335,670 3,418,750 3,503,920 3,591,280 3,681,060 

Other (Training, Retirement Benefits, etc) 1,229,150 1,229,150 1,268,460 1,268,750 1,269,630 1,270,530 1,271,450 1,272,380 1,273,340 1,274,310 1,274,310 

Running Expenses 11,317,250 11,485,080 10,780,240 10,688,330 10,815,560 10,967,000 11,098,840 11,158,820 11,528,660 11,557,910 11,647,910 

Capital Financing 868,420 868,420 940,620 1,120,290 1,503,160 1,776,060 2,255,600 2,255,600 2,255,610 2,255,610 2,255,610 

Net Housing Benefit Subsidy (140,920) (140,920) (52,120) 14,870 64,790 101,450 127,810 146,230 158,570 158,570 158,570 

Recharges to Other Accounts (3,195,260) (3,195,260) (3,295,930) (3,320,810) (3,382,590) (3,460,300) (3,492,890) (3,554,150) (3,622,850) (3,587,920) (3,587,920)

Other Government Grants (2,298,850) (2,298,850) (2,064,060) (2,085,970) (2,108,260) (2,130,930) (2,153,990) (2,177,440) (2,201,300) (2,225,560) (2,250,040)

Investment Income (850,000) (654,500) (772,000) (802,000) (832,000) (862,000) (892,000) (922,000) (952,000) (982,000) (1,012,000)

Fees & Charges (7,419,580) (4,766,400) (7,191,270) (7,179,690) (7,163,890) (7,175,680) (7,138,930) (6,984,430) (6,990,050) (6,995,820) (6,995,820)

Rental Income (4,624,530) (4,096,450) (4,738,530) (4,722,060) (4,722,160) (4,653,740) (4,742,960) (4,871,820) (4,918,090) (4,963,490) (5,008,160)

APPROPRIATIONS

Capital Items met from Balances and Reserves 1,818,450 1,818,450 785,000 730,000 660,000 585,000 505,000 560,000 160,000 405,000 405,000 

Net Contribution to / (from) Reserves (515,180) (670,180) (1,581,110) 51,360 9,810 134,020 453,620 459,680 356,200 375,520 375,520 

Appropriation to / (from) Balances 603,010 603,010 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 

Parish Precepts 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 368,210 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR THE YEAR 11,543,950 14,903,840 9,692,760 11,714,250 12,588,940 13,279,510 14,422,680 14,887,070 15,155,670 15,673,720 16,110,480 

Business Rates Income (3,698,510) (3,698,510) (3,266,080) (3,313,100) (3,360,920) (3,409,560) (3,459,020) (3,509,320) (3,560,480) (3,612,510) (3,665,250)

Residual Revenue Support Grant (RSG) --   --   243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 

Less: Passported Parish Grant (LSCT) --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

New Homes Bonus (603,010) (603,010) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

Council Tax Income (7,144,320) (7,144,320) (7,324,470) (7,515,620) (7,711,940) (7,913,510) (8,120,050) (8,331,980) (8,549,740) (8,773,050) (9,002,360)

Parish Precepts (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210) (368,210)

Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund --   --   379,390 373,150 373,150 --   --   --   --   --   --   

270,100 270,100 1,189,900 (587,180) (1,217,730) (1,284,940) (2,172,110) (1,823,910) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

0 3,359,890 --   --   --   --   --   550,360 1,826,950 2,069,660 2,224,370 

0 --   --   --   --   --   --   550,360 1,276,590 242,710 154,710 

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL
MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Projected 

2029-30

NEW SAVINGS PER ANNUM

Projected 

2022-23

Projected 

2026-27

Recycling of Excess Usable Working Balances above £3.25m

Projected 

2021-22

Projected 

2028-29

Projected 

2027-28

Projected 

2020-21

Original 

2020-21

Projected 

2025-26

Projected 

2023-24

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND)

Projected 

2024-25

P
age 79



MTFP V2 - BMR Q1 Appendix 2

2020-21    

Original

2020-21    

Projected

2021-22   

Original

2022-23    

Original

2023-24      

Original

2024-25      

Original

2025-26      

Original

2026-27      

Original

2027-28      

Original

2028-29      

Original

2029-30      

Original

8,350,750 8,350,750 5,863,970 7,600,870 7,560,690 6,889,960 6,152,020 4,526,910 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000

New Homes Bonus 603,010 603,010 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000

Usage of Excess Working Balances to support GF 270,100 270,100 1,189,900 (587,180) (1,217,730) (1,284,940) (2,172,110) (1,823,910) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

Transfer from Balances to equalise Council Tax - - - - - - - - - - -

SUB-TOTAL (BEFORE SAVINGS REQUIREMENT) 9,223,860 9,223,860 7,600,870 7,560,690 6,889,960 6,152,020 4,526,910 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000 3,250,000

(Shortfall)/Underspend Against Original Budget (0) (3,359,890) - - - - - (550,360) (1,826,950) (2,069,660) (2,224,370)

9,223,860 5,863,970 7,600,870 7,560,690 6,889,960 6,152,020 4,526,910 2,699,640 872,690 (1,196,970) (3,421,340)

Specific Reserves (as at end of year)

Spend to Save Reserve (incl. Digital Team) 159,560 - - - - - - - - - -

Corporate Priorities Reserve 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510 249,510

Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,320,080 955,580 875,580 875,580 860,580 960,580 1,060,580 1,160,580 1,260,580 1,360,580 1,460,580

Planning Policy Reserve 369,170 138,570 106,970 111,370 135,770 185,770 235,770 285,770 335,770 385,770 435,770

Leisure Centres Reserve 1,649,040 1,818,940 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720 222,720

Decriminalisation (General) 184,640 - - - - - - - - - -

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 110,980 99,480 111,980 124,480 107,980 120,480 132,980 121,480 109,980 98,480 86,980

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme Reserve 25,000 - - - - - - - - - -

Elections Reserve 73,750 73,750 92,000 127,000 22,000 57,000 92,000 127,000 22,000 57,000 92,000

IT Infrastructure Reserve 339,730 84,730 79,730 114,730 189,730 134,730 169,730 244,730 149,730 184,730 219,730

DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240 102,240

Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,001,710 833,060 664,410 488,760 313,110 137,460 93,000 90,000 314,350 338,700 363,050

Business Rates Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Growth Fund Reserve 588,080 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260 717,260

Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Service Review Reserve 241,180 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000 83,000

Playgrounds Reserve 116,530 61,530 110,280 54,030 82,780 71,530 140,280 154,030 167,780 136,530 105,280

Woodville Repairs Reserve 227,570 284,820 342,070 399,320 456,570 513,820 571,070 628,320 685,570 742,820 800,070

Commercial Income Protection Reserve 483,590 693,680 710,780 708,310 708,320 698,060 711,440 730,770 737,710 744,520 751,330

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

St George's Centre Income Protection Reserve 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440 948,440

Housing & Commercial Growth Fund Reserve 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000

Climate Change Reserve - 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Enterprise Zone Reserve - 151,340 297,850 439,430 575,980 707,410 833,610 954,460 1,069,870 1,179,730 1,289,590

TOTAL BALANCES & RESERVES 19,264,660 15,409,900 15,565,690 15,576,870 14,915,950 14,312,030 13,140,540 11,769,950 10,299,200 8,605,060 6,756,210

NB: ADDT. MINIMUM WORKING BALANCES 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000

INCLUDED WITHIN THIS VERSION OF THE PLAN

Council Tax increase of £4.95 (2.44%) in 2020-21, then 2% thereafter.  Council Tax Base increased by 1.19% for 2020-21 budget-setting, and subsequently adjusted for potential Covid-19 impact. Growth of 0.60% annually thereafter.

Projected salary costs increased by 2.5% per annum from 2020-21, representative of pay award and incrememental growth.

Negative RSG removed for 2020-21 as per Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement.  NHB Scheme payments flatlined from 2021-22 pending the outcome of funding reforms planned from April 2021.

Business Rates income based on actual projected income to be received, net of S31 Grants for busines rate relief initiatives (shown in Other Government Grant Line), including Enterprise Zone benefit.

Projected revenue costs of interest payable and MRP associated with developing a new Leisure Centre within the Borough included, assuming centre is operational in 2025.

General Fund miniumum working balance set at £2m from 2020/21 onwards, General Reserve balance set at £3.25m from 2020/21 onwards.

Analysis of Balances & Specific Reserves Balances 

as at the end of the Financial Year (i.e. 31 March)                                       

Working Balances B/Fwd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

Working Balances C/FWd (Exc. £2.0m min balance)

P
age 80



Class Type Deal Ref Start / 
Purchase Date Maturity Date Counterparty Broker Name Profile Rate Principal O/S 

(£)
0 7 Deposit Fixed 866 31/07/19 01/07/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -1,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 868 11/10/19 09/10/20 Lancashire County Council Tradition Maturity 1.1500% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 136 01/11/19 30/10/20 National Westminster Bank plc (RFB) King & Shaxson Maturity 0.9900% -5,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 865 15/07/19 01/07/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -2,000,000.00

Fixed Total 1.1045% -11,000,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 95 days notice 132 02/08/19 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.6000% -1,000,000.00

Call - 95 days notice Total 0.6000% -1,000,000.00

11 Deposit MMF Insight Sterling Liquidity 
Fund 12/07/18 Insight Liquidity Sterling C5 Maturity 0.1119% -6,886,872.88

Deposit MMF Invesco RR MMF 11/06/18 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.2317% -827,527.21

Deposit MMF 250Invesco MMF 01/04/16 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.2317% -16.79

Deposit MMF Aberdeen MMF L1 14/11/19 Aberdeen Liquidity Fund - Sterling Fund Class 
L-1

Maturity 0.2426% -500.00

Deposit MMF Aberdeen MMF L-1 18/05/20 Aberdeen Liquidity Fund - Sterling Fund Class 
L-1

Maturity 0.2426% -4,866,000.00

MMF Total 0.1703% -12,580,916.88

15 Deposit VNAV Fund 95 14/02/18 Jupiter Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -2,281,196.14

Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -2,621,898.30

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity 3.9162% -1,802,011.15

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -508,260.90

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 Lothbury Maturity 2.3799% -5,056,276.99

Deposit VNAV Fund 94 09/02/18 Aberdeen Diversified Income Funds Maturity 4.6951% -1,621,654.94

Deposit VNAV Fund 96 22/02/18 JP Morgan Asset Management Maturity 4.1432% -4,359,965.64

VNAV Fund Total 2.4529% -18,251,264.05

Deposit Total 1.3929% -42,832,180.93

Tot
al

To
tal Grand Total -42,832,180.93

Principal Outstanding
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA, Heritage Quarter - Capital 
Contribution, Heritage Quarter - Rent Reserve)

As At: 30/06/2020

Page 1 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 18/08/20 15:28

P
age 81



Page 2 of 2Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 18/08/20 15:28

P
age 82



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 7 September 2020 / 13 October 2020

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report  – 
Quarter One 2020/21

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2020/21, including known variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan 
or Financial Statements.

Recommendations:

This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2020/21 financial year for 
the first quarter to 30 June 2020 as well as updating Members on other key areas of 
financial performance. 

1.2. The council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good financial 
governance and respond to the pressures on the council’s finances.  In addition to the 
reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring reports, these 
actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity (relating to both permanent and temporary 
appointments, and including use of overtime) to be considered and approved by 
Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy, as 
set out in the current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 83 Agenda Item 8



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

HRA (Revenue)

2.1. At the end of Quarter One, income and expenditure for the year remains balanced, albeit 
there remains an anticipated contribution from reserves to fund projected revenue 
expenditure for the year. The main variance within the forecast position compared to the 
original budget is an increased contribution to meet the anticipated reduction in rental 
income.  This is partially offset with the projected underspend within salaries.

2.2. The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £3.0m, the minimum level 
of Working Balances for the HRA.  Movements in the year are projected to result in a net 
decrease in the General HRA Reserves of £1.6m, with the level of reserves being £3.03m 
at start of year and projected to be £1.4m at year-end.

2.3. The significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the lack of clarity 
regarding funding and regulatory reform. 

Housing Capital

2.4. The revised budget for the Housing Capital Programme for the year is £22.4m, with    
expenditure and commitments to the end of Quarter One of £5.8m. Capital budgets 
totalling £1.816m have been carried forward to 2020/21, relating to the maintenance of the 
Council’s housing stock, the New Build programme and the provision of Disabled Facilities 
Grants.

Page 84



3

3. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

3.1. Budget 2020/21

3.1.1. The table below sets out the current forecast spend against the original budget for the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA), based on variances to 30 June 2020.  As at 30 June 
2020 the forecast reflects a net adverse variance to original budget of £251k.  The 
additional funds required will be met by an increased contribution from general reserves.

Description Original Budget 
2020/21 (£)

Forecast   
2020/21 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 6,037,100 5,909,100 (128,000)
Repairs and Maintenance 8,022,810 8,022,810 0
Depreciation 6,888,800 6,888,800 0
Intensive Management Fund - Expenditure 662,300 662,300 0
Capital Finance 8,516,010 8,516,010 0
Sub Total Expenditure 30,127,020 29,999,020 (128,000)
Rents of Dwellings (25,812,570) (25,477,570) 335,000
Other Rental Income (33,550) (33,550) 0
Service Charges (2,115,620) (2,115,620) 0
Non Dwelling Income (140,000) (140,000) 0
Intensive Management Fund - Income (521,480) (521,480) 0
Other Income (114,200) (70,200) 44,000
Sub Total Income (28,737,420) (28,358,420) 379,000
Contributions to/(from) reserves (1,389,600) (1,640,600) (251,000)
Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Table 1: Housing Revenue Account 2020/21

3.2. SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT –  £128k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.2.1. Vacancy Management: £166k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget for 
2020/21 incorporates a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year.  It is anticipated that this 
will occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within day-
to-day business activities, as well as posts held vacant pending the re-design of services.  
For the first three months to 30 June 2020, actual staffing spend was £166k lower than 
budgeted.

3.2.2. Capita Housing System:  £38k adverse variance - the current housing system, Capita, 
will be supported beyond the previously advised sunset date.  The negotiated fee of £75k 
includes a premium for the service extension.  Some of this cost can be met from the 
existing budget for software support (£37k), reducing the impact of the negotiated fee to 
an expected overspend of £38k.  This will provide support to March 2021, enabling 
housing to provide an uninterrupted service to tenants while the development and 
implementation of the new system is underway.  It is expected that the additional cost can 
be absorbed within the Supervision & Management budget constraint.

Page 85



4

3.3. RENTS ON DWELLINGS - £335K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Rents on Dwellings - £300k – adverse variance – due to the impact of Covid-19, it is 
expected that there will be a negative impact on rent income in 2020/21.  The rental 
income continues to be monitored and if required, an appropriate adjustment will be made 
to the bad debt provision.

3.3.2. Void losses - £35k – adverse variance – during the initial lockdown period, Council 
properties that became vacant were not able to be re-let within the usual timescales, 
therefore during this period there was a loss of rental income which is estimated to be in 
the region of £35k.

3.4 OTHER INCOME - £44K ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.4.1 Other Income – £44k - adverse variance – as a result of Covid-19, commercial income, 
income for hall lettings and investment returns will be affected.  At this stage, it is 
estimated to be in the region of some £44k.

3.5 Working Balances and Reserves

3.5.1. The variances outlined in this report have the following effect upon HRA working 
balances: 

£
Balance Brought Forward from 2019/20 3,000,000
Forecast Outturn position 2020/21 (1,640,600)
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 30 June 2020) including minimum 
HRA Working Balance 1,359,400

Add: Transfer from HRA General Reserve (Revenue) 1,640,600

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 30 June 2020) 3,000,000
Table 2: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

3.5.2. The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist with 
future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year. 

HRA Specific Reserves

Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2020   
(£)

Forecast 
Contributions 

(Income)      
(£)

Forecast Use 
of Reserve 

(Expenditure) 
(£)

Forecast 
Balance 

31/03/2021   
(£)

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (3,037,750) 0 1,640,600 (1,397,150)

Total (3,037,750) 0 1,640,600 (1,397,150)
Table 3: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

3.6 HRA Business Planning

3.6.1. The HRA Business Plan is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to take into account 
longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government grants and energy 

Page 86



5

prices, together with building in all known variances to the budget resulting from 
Management Team and Cabinet decisions.

3.6.2 The HRA Business Plan reflects the current and future financial spend profiles identified in 
the recent Stock Condition Survey.  It also reflects future forecasts of the New Build 
Programme beyond the existing three year scheme based on the current assumption on 
the number of Council Houses sold per annum.

3.6.3 The latest version of the HRA Business Plan is attached to this report at Appendix Two.

3.6.4 On 9 October 2019 HM Treasury announced that it would increase the interest rates on all 
new loans from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) by 100 basis points (one 
percentage point) on top of usual lending terms.  This appeared to be in response to a 
substantial increase in the use of PWLB by local authorities over recent months, given the 
cost of borrowing had fallen to record lows.  This action effectively made the PWLB the 
lender of last resort for local authorities.

3.6.5 That increase was then reversed for some forms of borrowing on 11 March 2020, when 
the Government announced that local authorities could borrow for HRA schemes from the 
PWLB at up 120 basis point (1.2%) below standard rates.  At the same time the 
Government announced a consultation on the future of the PWLB.  The Council 
responded to the Consultation which closed on 31 July and we are currently awaiting the 
results and details of any potential changes.

3.6.6 Ordinarily the Council assumes 30 properties will be sold per annum, however, in light of 
the COVID-19 pandemic, this is likely to be reduced to around 20 for the current financial 
year.

3.6.7 Further work will be undertaken over the coming weeks to review the impact the above 
changes will have on the Business Plan as well as other base assumptions within the 
model.

Page 87



6

4 HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1. The Housing Capital programme for 2020/21 is £22,366,960, of which £20,658,970 
relates to HRA capital schemes and £1,707,990 relates to non-HRA capital schemes.  
These budgets include £941,660 and £875,190, respectively that are carried forward from 
2019/20.

4.2. The HRA capital schemes continue to focus on maintaining the minimum decent homes 
standard for the Council’s stock in 2020/21, with £7,330,110 earmarked for this purpose 
within the Replacement, Improvement, Health & Safety Works and Major Void Works 
Programmes.  An additional £929,000 capital budgets have been agreed including the 
replacement Housing Computer System, Fire Doors and Replacement Play Equipment.  
The council also continues its commitment to build new homes with £12,399,860 allocated 
for this purpose.

4.3. In Quarter One, Central Government guidelines and restrictions were implemented to help 
reduce the transmission of the Covid-19 pandemic.  This had a severe impact to the 
delivery of the capital investment programmes, with most contractors providing 
emergency service only.

4.4. In challenging times, there have been positive outcomes.  Gas compliancy rates have 
continued to average at 98-99%, and some installations were carried out in accordance 
with strict guidelines.  Where possible, specifications and surveys were carried out in 
preparation of sites re-opening and work commencing.

Ref No: Project
 Original Budget 

2020-21 inc CFwd 
(£)

Expenditure 
Including 

Commitments 
(£)

Balance 
Outstanding 

(£)

A Replacement Programmes 4,122,450 2,794,480 (1,327,970)
B Improvement Programmes 1,702,350 328,120 (1,374,230)
C Health & Safety Works 1,305,310 650,690 (654,620)
D Major Void Works 200,000 14,360 (185,640)
E New Build & Acquisions 12,399,860 1,512,030 (10,887,830)
F Housing Computer Systems 600,000 370,260 (229,740)
G Replacement Play Equipment 103,750 0 (103,750)
H Bin Housing 13,190 0 (13,190)
I CCTV 37,060 0 (37,060)
J Fire Doors 175,000 0 (175,000)

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 20,658,970 5,669,940 (14,989,030)
K Renovation Grants (DFG) 1,707,990 167,460 (1,540,530)

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 22,366,960 5,837,400 (16,529,560)

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Table 4: Housing Capital Programme 2020/21

4.5. The following works were undertaken or completed by the end of Quarter One 2020/21:

4.5.1. Replacement Programmes (Ref A)

 29 kitchen replacements on void properties, planned programme is due to re-
commence in October 2020;

Page 88



7

 12 bathroom replacements on void properties, bathroom programme re-
commencement to be confirmed;

 262 properties had electrical tests and/or remedial works including rewiring, minor 
works and upgrades to consumer units;

 32 blocks has had communal electrical tests and/or remedial works completed;
 Windows and doors at Carl Ekman were 95% complete prior to lockdown.  It is 

anticipated that works will be completed in July 2020.

4.5.2. Across the Replacement Programmes, £100k is expected to be rolled forward into 
2021/22 to enable the backlog of programmed works due to Covid-19, to be completed.

4.5.3. Improvement Programmes (Ref B)

 93 properties had new central heating systems installed;

 3 properties had new storage heating installed;

 2517 properties had CO (carbon monoxide detectors installed;

 No installations have been carried out under the aids and adaptations programme.  
Due to the vulnerable nature of the tenants, contact has been restricted to 
emergency breakdown works only.

4.5.4. Health & Safety Works (Ref C)

 Asbestos management removals completed for communal areas at various sites.

4.6. New Build (Ref D)

4.6.1. The authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain part of the Right To Buy 
(RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition of additional 
social housing.  The following is the reported position at the end of Quarter One:

 Construction continues on the former Whitehill Tenants Associations Club site 
where Westridge Construction Limited will deliver 24 x 1 and 2 bed apartments 
and 8 x 3 bed houses.  However, works has been severely disrupted due to the 
Global Pandemic Covid-19, with reduced labour on site and several sub-
contractors scaling back their operations.  This has delayed the programme 
delivery by five months which gives us a revised completion date of October 2020 
for the 3 bed houses and February 2021 for the 24 apartments;

 Westridge Construction took possession of the Valley Drive Site in February 2020 
that will deliver 32 x 1 bed apartments for over 55’s and 16 x 1, 2 and 3 bed 
general needs apartments. However, disconnection of the mains services had 
been delayed due to the statutory undertakers suspending all non-emergency 
works due to Covid-19.  UKPN has advised electrical disconnection is confirmed 
for August.  However, the gas disconnection cannot take place until November due 
to the backlog of priority wor ks due to the impact of Covid-19.   Westridge 
Construction continues to seek opportunities for an early disconnection should this 
become available.  All pre-commencement planning conditions have been 
discharged and following disconnection of all services, demolition will commence.  
The development completion date is now expected in 2022;

Page 89



8

 Westridge Construction took possession of the site at St Patrick’s Gardens in May 
to construct 23 x 1 and 2 bed apartments.  The design freeze has now been 
completed with no further changes anticipated.  Preliminary works are now 
underway to hoard the site and a letter drop carried out to local residents advising 
them of the impending;

 Constable Road planning permission to construct 7 x 1 bed bungalows and new 
play area to the open amenity space. Tenders have now been received and a cost 
analysis is underway with a quality review of the tender submissions to be 
completed by the 3rd August 2020;

4.6.2. Since the start of the coronavirus pandemic our partners have been working hard to 
maintain business continuity and keep the council informed of any changes and advice 
from Government and WHO, that could impact the business plans. The underlying 
message was the health and wellbeing of all staff, clients, and third-party suppliers was 
of paramount importance, and any measures in respect of social distancing and safe 
working practice would be implemented without fail. This approach has led to reduced 
labour on site and a disruption to the supply chain with several key stakeholders 
temporarily closing their works. These measures have impacted our programme and will 
delay practical completion by several months. However, our partners will continue to 
provide us with all the advice and information to ensure that we receive regular updates 
so we can react and adjust as necessary to any further events.

4.6.3. Despite the current impact from the Covid-19 pandemic, the council remains determined 
to deliver on its agenda of increasing the housing supply and continues to work with it’s 
stakeholders in the identification, design, and construction of good quality affordable 
homes.

4.6.4. The Housing Development Team are currently working on approximately 20 sites that are 
at various stages of the planning, design and build process from initial conception to 
works on site.

4.6.5. The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred in 
2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As at 1 April 2020, the RTB Allowable Debt reserve 
had a nil balance.  This was due to the proposal to use any balance from the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects, ahead of any other funding 
source, as this can either be used to repay debt or finance the capital programme. 

4.6.6. Table 13 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver the 
New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be delivered to 
avoid having to return funds to Central Government.

Page 90



9

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

£ £ £ £

2012-17 c/f 6,905,580 16,113,020 23,018,600 23,018,620 31-Mar-20
2017-18
Q1 351,150 819,350 1,170,500 24,189,120 30-Jun-20
Q2 296,150 691,020 987,170 25,176,290 30-Sep-20
Q3 730,460 1,704,420 2,434,880 27,611,170 31-Dec-20
Q4 433,800 1,012,210 1,446,010 29,057,180 01-Jan-21
2018-19
Q1 694,160 1,619,710 2,313,870 31,371,040 30-Jun-21
Q2 484,630 1,130,800 1,615,430 32,986,460 30-Sep-21
Q3 379,770 886,130 1,265,900 34,252,360 31-Dec-21
Q4 238,610 556,760 795,370 35,047,730 31-Mar-22
2019-20
Q1 383,470 894,760 1,278,230 36,325,960 30-Jun-22
Q2 1,382,090 3,224,880 4,606,970 40,932,930 30-Sep-22
Q3 544,030 1,269,400 1,813,430 42,746,360 31-Dec-22
Q4 559,730 1,306,040 1,865,770 44,612,130 31-Mar-23

Q1 453,610 1,058,420 1,512,030 46,124,160 31-Jun-23
13,837,240 32,286,920 46,124,160

Table 5: New Build

4.7. Housing Computer System (Ref E)
4.7.1. Following a report to the Leader of the Council, the procurement process to purchase the 

replacement Housing Management System was completed in early June 2020 with the 
projected officially starting on 16 June 2020.

4.7.2 The project is now well underway and various scoping sessions have been completed for 
different elements of the new system.  A dedicated Project Manager has also been 
appointed to work with the Assistant Director (Housing) and departmental managers to 
help manage this particular project as part of the on-going transformation of the services 
within housing, and the Council’s aspirations to provide a proactive, supportive and 
financially efficient Housing Service. 

Page 91



10

4.8. Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)

4.8.1. A 20 year replacement plan is due to commence in 2020/21.  This project has been 
included within the Housing Asset Business Plan and is due to commence in 2020/21. 

4.9. Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref I) 

4.9.1. The grant funding awarded to the Council, via the Better Care Fund, in 2020/21 was 
£832,800.  The total funding available is £1,707,980 which includes carry forward from 
2019/20 of £875,180.

4.9.2. The Council continues to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes eligible 
for assistance that comply with the wider remit of the Better Care.

4.9.3. In Quarter One of 2020/21 there was a considerable delay in the assessment and 
progression of residents who were considered to be in the vulnerable category for Covid-
19.  The implementation of social distancing measures allowed assessments to re-
commence late June.  

4.9.4. In addition to this, a number of contractors were furloughed which meant there was a 
reduction in the progression of completing existing grants.

4.9.5. A total of 63 cases have been processed, of which the breakdown is as follows:

 4 grant cases were approved

 12 households had works completed

 0 applications were cancelled due to changes in the client’s circumstances

 47 grant cases are awaiting approval

4.9.6. The Council distributed £167,460 to private homeowners within the borough who qualify 
for Disabled Facility Grant assistance as well as other grants associated with the Better 
Care Fund.

4.9.7. A total of 64 people have benefited from the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy 
which enables people to gain access to funding which otherwise would not have been 
available.  It has assisted 61 people to have better managed hospital discharges into a 
safer home environment and a further 3 people have been assisted with energy 
measures.  This quarter has seen a significant increase in the number of people being 
discharged from hospital, comparted to previous periods, as hospitals were facilitating 
quicker discharges to manage the pressures on the NHS due to the emerging Covid-19 
pandemic.

Page 92



11

4.10. Capital Resources
4.10.1. The table below shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2020 (£)

Income 
2020/21 (£)

Use of Funding 
2020/21 (£)

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2021 (£)
Capital Receipts - HRA (1,160,010) (259,490) 1,215,620 (203,880)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (86,180) 0 0 (86,180)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (86,170) (6,888,800) 6,888,800 (86,170)
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (849,390) 0 694,200 (155,190)
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (6,443,440) (2,928,210) 2,278,100 (7,093,550)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve 0 (714,840) 714,840 0
Disabled Facility Grants (875,220) (832,800) 1,707,990 (30)
Christianfields Overage (766,000) 0 0 (766,000)
General Reserve (revenue) (3,037,750) 0 2,226,510 (811,240)
Borrowing 0 0 8,102,500 0
Total (16,877,160) (11,624,140) 23,828,560 (12,775,240)

Table 6: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2019/20

4.10.2. Projected Capital Expenditure and funding requirements for the HRA can be found at 
Appendix Three to this report. 

 

Page 93



12

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30June  
against the original budget set for the 2020/21 financial year, and illustrate how this 
affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 94

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


13

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Original Budget 

inc C/Fwd Q1

HRA Capital Budget Monitoring 2020.21 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Capital Expendture

Capital Maintenance Expenditure

Replacement Programme 4,122 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Improvement Programme 1,702 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Health & Safety 1,305 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Planned Maintenance 0 1,769 3,551 4,498 7,391 5,225 5,340 5,458 5,578 5,700

Kitchen 0 828 931 904 923 944 964 986 1,007 1,030

Bathroom 0 285 359 331 338 346 353 361 369 377

Heating Installations 0 1,141 1,068 1,089 1,113 1,138 1,163 1,188 1,214 1,241

Disabled Adaptations 0 522 509 519 530 542 554 566 578 591

Asbestos Management 0 60 71 73 74 76 78 79 81 83

Electrical Testing 0 1,181 809 519 530 542 554 566 578 591

Precaution Works 0 679 679 311 318 325 332 340 347 355

Communal 0 566 657 670 685 700 715 731 747 764

Major Voids 200 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Savings Required 0 0 (1,381) (1,381) (1,381) (1,381) (1,381) (1,381) (1,381) (1,381)

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 7,330 7,230 7,253 7,533 10,522 8,456 8,672 8,893 9,119 9,350

Other Capital Expenditure

Housing Computer System 600 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Play Equipment 104 104 24 24 24 0 0 0 0 0

Bin Housing 13 13 36 13 0 0 0 0 0 0

CCTV 37 37 18 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fire Doors 175 175 175 175 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 929 929 252.800 213.720 24 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure

Purchases from the Market 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Kings Farm 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

St Hilda's 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Whitehill Road 0 3,591 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Valley Drive 0 5,030 3,159 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Claremont Place 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Chichester Rise 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Development Enabler 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

St Patricks Gardens 0 1,962 2,112 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Wilberforce Way 0 148 148 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Rembrandt/Constable Drive 0 907 974 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Armoury Drive 0 0 1,234 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Barr Road 0 174 174 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build 12,400 588 0 6,791 5,898 7,826 8,276 8,768 9,227 9,702

New Build Programme Unidentified Scheme 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure Total 12,400 12,400 7,802 6,791 5,898 7,826 8,276 8,768 9,227 9,702

Total Capital Expenditure 20,659 20,559 15,307 14,538 16,444 16,282 16,948 17,662 18,346 19,052

Financing

HRA Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA New Build Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

MRR (7,583) (7,583) (7,311) (7,278) (7,514) (7,776) (8,032) (8,296) (8,568) (8,850)

RTB - Attributable Debt (753) (429) (556) (339) (774) (556) (556) (556) (556) (556)

RTB - LA Share 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - Transaction Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Capital receipts (1,316) (1,316) (132) 0 (711) (252) (252) (252) (252) (252)

Gen Cap Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gen Cap Reserve 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA General Reserve/RCCO (627) (627) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA Reserve 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - 141 Receipts (2,278) (2,588) (1,630) (2,037) (1,769) (2,348) (2,483) (2,630) (2,768) (2,911)

Capital Grant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

S106 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Returned to Capital Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Borrowing (8,103) (8,016) (5,678) (4,884) (5,676) (5,350) (5,626) (5,928) (6,202) (6,484)

Total Financing (20,659) (20,559) (15,307) (14,538) (16,444) (16,282) (16,948) (17,662) (18,346) (19,052)

Net Over/Under Financing (0) 0 0.000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Original 

Budget Q1

HRA Budget Monitoring 2020.21 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Expenditure

Supervision and Management 6,037 5,909 5,915 6,010 6,118 6,240 6,353 6,467 6,583 6,702

Repairs and Maintenance 8,023 8,023 8,031 8,159 8,306 8,472 8,625 8,780 8,938 9,099

Depreciation 6,889 6,889 7,029 7,278 7,514 7,776 8,032 8,296 8,568 8,850

Intensive Housing Management - Expenditure 662 662 663 674 686 699 712 725 738 751

Capital Finance 7,889 7,889 8,269 8,364 8,955 9,595 9,975 10,353 10,743 11,144

RCCO 627 627 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Revenue Savings Required 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 30,127 29,999 29,906 30,484 31,579 32,783 33,696 34,621 35,570 36,546

Income

Rents of Dwellings (25,813) (25,478) (26,471) (27,487) (28,507) (29,657) (30,492) (31,349) (32,229) (33,130)

Other Rental Income (Phone masts etc) (34) (20) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34) (34)

Service Charges (2,116) (2,116) (2,140) (2,197) (2,260) (2,329) (2,396) (2,465) (2,536) (2,608)

Non Dwelling Income (Garages & Commercial) (140) (136) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140)

Intensive Housing Management  - Income (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521)

Other Income (Interest, Ins Reimburse & CCentre) (114) (88) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114) (114)

Total Income (28,737) (28,359) (29,420) (30,493) (31,576) (32,795) (33,698) (34,624) (35,573) (36,548)

Contributions to/(from) reserves (1,390) (1,640) (486) 9 (2) 12 2 3 3 2

Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balances and Reserves

HRA Working Balances

B/fwd Balance 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

Variances per budget report (1,390) (1,640) (486) 9 (2) 12 2 3 3 2

Forecast Working Balances C/fwd 1,610 1,360 2,514 3,009 2,998 3,012 3,002 3,003 3,003 3,002

Movement (to)/from HRA General Reserve 1,390 1,640 486 (9) 2 (12) (2) (3) (3) (2)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

HRA General Reserve

Opening Balance 3,038 3,038 1,398 912 921 918 931 932 935 938

Use to support revenue position (337) (1,013) (486) 0 (2) 0 0 0 0 0

Use in capital financing (3,173) (627) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Surplus on HRA revenue account 0 0 0 9 0 12 2 3 3 2

Deficit on HRA revenue account 2,120 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Forecast HRA General Reserve Balances C/fwd 1,648 1,398 912 921 918 931 932 935 938 940

Funding Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 13 October 2020

Reporting officer: Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Independent Review into the Oversight of Local Audit and the 
Transparency of Local Authority Financial Reporting

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Members of the publication of the Independent Review into the Oversight of Local 
Audit and the Transparency of Local Authority Financial Reporting (the Redmond Review) 
and to summarise the key recommendations made.

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information only.

1. Introduction

1.1 On 10 July 2019 James Brokenshire, the then Secretary of State for the Ministry 
of Housing, Communities and Local Government announced that Government 
would be instructing an independent review to examine local authority financial 
reporting and auditing.  The review was to be led by the former President of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA), Sir Tony Redmond.

1.2 In announcing the review, Mr Brokenshire recognised the importance of a robust 
local audit system in reinforcing confidence in financial reporting through the 
provision of assurance and accountability to the public, as well as being a means 
to help prevent financial and governance failure and promote faith in local 
democracy.  The review intended to determine:

 Whether the audit and related regulatory framework for local authorities in 
England is operating in line with the policy intent set out in the Audit & 
Accountability Act and the related impact assessment;

 Whether the reforms have improved the effectiveness of the control and 
governance framework along with the transparency of financial information 
presented by councils;

 Whether the current statutory framework for local authority financial reporting 
supports the transparent disclosure of financial performance and enables 
users of the accounts to hold local authorities to account.

Page 101 Agenda Item 9



2

2. Reporting of Review Findings

2.1 Whilst the review was expected to report in March 2020, the document setting out 
the findings of the review was actually released on 8th September 2020.   The full 
findings of the review can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reporting-
and-external-audit-independent-review

2.2 The review sets out a total of 23 recommendations which are reproduced at 
Appendix Two to this report for Member information.  These principally focus on:

 The creation of a new body, the Office for Local Audit and Regulation 
(OLAR), to deliver coordinated oversight and regulation of local audit; 

 Enhanced governance arrangements for local councils, including annual 
reporting to Full Council of local audit outcomes, consideration of 
independent Audit Committee members and formalising requirements for 
meetings between the external auditor and key officers involved in 
governance arrangements of the council;

 Expanding the pool of audit firms that can bid for local audit work and 
securing the knowledge, skills and expertise of auditors engaged in local 
audit;

 Recognising the role Internal Audit can have in assurance;

 Reviewing the audit fee structure to ensure this sufficiently recognises 
current local audit requirements;

 Changing the date of the current audit deadline from 31 July to 30 
September;

 Clearly defining the scope of audit in assessing the financial resilience and 
sustainability of a local authority;

 Increasing transparency of local authority financial reporting for the benefit 
of the general public.

2.3 The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, the Rt 
Hon Robert Jenrick MP, will now consider the findings and recommendations.  
Further updates will be brought to this committee in due course.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 102

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Flocal-authority-financial-reporting-and-external-audit-independent-review&data=02%7C01%7CBeth.Addison%40communities.gov.uk%7Cf28af427a914496af2d208d853130ba4%7Cbf3468109c7d43dea87224a2ef3995a8%7C0%7C0%7C637350688543363515&sdata=dsXSLexN7%2FhbRICrcZGJmtiEM%2FTT2vZqIOQTQAVzsX4%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2Flocal-authority-financial-reporting-and-external-audit-independent-review&data=02%7C01%7CBeth.Addison%40communities.gov.uk%7Cf28af427a914496af2d208d853130ba4%7Cbf3468109c7d43dea87224a2ef3995a8%7C0%7C0%7C637350688543363515&sdata=dsXSLexN7%2FhbRICrcZGJmtiEM%2FTT2vZqIOQTQAVzsX4%3D&reserved=0


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
    

Legal N/A

Finance and Value 
for Money 

N/A

Risk Assessment N/A

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan N/A

Climate Change N/A

Crime and Disorder N/A

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 103

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Two

(Extract from Independent Review into the Oversight of Local Audit and the 
Transparency of Local Authority Financial Reporting)

Recommendations 

The recommendations of this Review are as follows: 

External Audit Regulation 

1. A new body, the Office of Local Audit and Regulation (OLAR), be created to manage, oversee and 
regulate local audit with the following key responsibilities: 

 procurement of local audit contracts; 
 producing annual reports summarising the state of local audit; 
 management of local audit contracts; 
 monitoring and review of local audit performance; 
 determining the code of local audit practice; and 
 regulating the local audit sector. 

2. The current roles and responsibilities relating to local audit discharged by the: 
 Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA); 
 Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW); 
 FRC/ARGA; and 
 The Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG) 

to be transferred to the OLAR. 

3. A Liaison Committee be established comprising key stakeholders and chaired by MHCLG, to receive 
reports from the new regulator on the development of local audit. 

4. The governance arrangements within local authorities be reviewed by local councils with the purpose of: 
 an annual report being submitted to Full Council by the external auditor; 
 consideration being given to the appointment of at least one independent member, suitably qualified, 

to the Audit Committee; and 
 formalising the facility for the CEO, Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) to meet with 

the Key Audit Partner at least annually. 

5. All auditors engaged in local audit be provided with the requisite skills and training to audit a local 
authority irrespective of seniority. 

6. The current fee structure for local audit be revised to ensure that adequate resources are deployed to 
meet the full extent of local audit requirements. 

7. That quality be consistent with the highest standards of audit within the revised fee structure. In cases 
where there are serious or persistent breaches of expected quality standards, OLAR has the scope to apply 
proportionate sanctions. 

8. Statute be revised so that audit firms with the requisite capacity, skills and experience are not excluded 
from bidding for local audit work. 

9. External Audit recognises that Internal Audit work can be a key support in appropriate circumstances 
where consistent with the Code of Audit Practice. 

10. The deadline for publishing audited local authority accounts be revisited with a view to extending it to 30 
September from 31 July each year. 

11. The revised deadline for publication of audited local authority accounts be considered in consultation 
with NHSI(E) and DHSC, given that audit firms use the same auditors on both Local Government and 
Health final accounts work. 

Page 105



Appendix Two

12. The external auditor be required to present an Annual Audit Report to the first Full Council meeting after 
30 September each year, irrespective of whether the accounts have been certified; OLAR to decide the 
framework for this report. 

13. The changes implemented in the 2020 Audit Code of Practice are endorsed; OLAR to undertake a post 
implementation review to assess whether these changes have led to more effective external audit 
consideration of financial resilience and value for money matters. 

Smaller Authorities Audit Regulation 

14. SAAA considers whether the current level of external audit work commissioned for Parish Councils, 
Parish Meetings and Internal Drainage Boards (IDBs) and Other Smaller Authorities is proportionate to the 
nature and size of such organisations. 

15. SAAA and OLAR examine the current arrangements for increasing audit activities and fees if a body’s 
turnover exceeds £6.5m. 

16. SAAA reviews the current arrangements, with auditors, for managing the resource implications for 
persistent and vexatious complaints against Parish Councils. 

Financial Resilience of local authorities 

17. MHCLG reviews its current framework for seeking assurance that financial sustainability in each local 
authority in England is maintained. 

18. Key concerns relating to service and financial viability be shared between Local Auditors and 
Inspectorates including Ofsted, Care Quality Commission and HMICFRS prior to completion of the external 
auditor’s Annual Report. 

Transparency of Financial Reporting 

19. A standardised statement of service information and costs be prepared by each authority and be 
compared with the budget agreed to support the council tax/precept/levy and presented alongside the 
statutory accounts. 

20. The standardised statement should be subject to external audit. 

21. The optimum means of communicating such information to council taxpayers/service users be 
considered by each local authority to ensure access for all sections of the communities. 

22. CIPFA/LASAAC be required to review the statutory accounts, in the light of the new requirement to 
prepare the standardised statement, to determine whether there is scope to simplify the presentation of 
local authority accounts by removing disclosures that may no longer be considered to be necessary. 

23. JPAG be required to review the Annual Governance and Accountability Return (AGAR) prepared by 
smaller authorities to see if it can be made more transparent to readers. In doing so the following principles 
should be considered:

 Whether “Section 2 – the Accounting Statements” should be moved to the first page of the AGAR so 
that it is more prominent to readers; 

 Whether budgetary information along with the variance between outturn and budget should be 
included in the Accounting Statements; and 

 Whether the explanation of variances provided by the authority to the auditor should be disclosed in 
the AGAR as part of the Accounting Statements. 

Page 106


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting.
	5 Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 2019/20
	Appendix II Annual Review Letter
	AppendixIIIComplaintsandenquiries
	Appendix IV Final Decision

	6 Audit & Counter Fraud Update - 1 April to 31 August 2020
	2. Appendix 2 - A&CF Update 01 April 2020 to 31 Aug 2020

	7 General Fund Budget Monitoring Report – Quarter One 2020/21
	Appendix 2 - MTFP - V2 - 2020-21 - BMR Q1
	Appendix 3 - Investments as at 30 June 2020

	8 Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report – Quarter One 2020/21
	Appendix 2 - HRA Business Plan (Capital)
	Appendix 2 - HRA Business Plan (Revenue)

	9 Redmond Review Update
	2AppendixTwoSummaryofRecommendations


